

DEPARTMENT OF POLITICAL SCIENCE CENTRE FOR EUROPEAN STUDIES (CES)

# TOWARDS SUSTAINABLE ROAD TRANSPORT

# Key factors on consumers' willingness to adopt electric vehicles in Sweden

Gökay Cinar

Master's thesis:30 creditsProgramme:Master's Programme in European StudiesLevel:Second CycleSemester year:Spring 2021Supervisor:Hanna Martin

# Abstract

This study aims to explore and understand key factors that influence consumers' willingness to adopt electric vehicles in Sweden. As the world is facing the climate change reality, many initiatives are taking place in various sectors in different countries to tackle climate change. The transport sector in the EU is one of the sectors that have a serious impact on climate. This thesis study focuses on the transition of the automotive industry from conventional engine vehicles to battery electric vehicles and aims to understand what key factors drive people's willingness to adopt electric vehicles in Sweden. The Multilevel Perspective Framework (MLP) is chosen to understand and describe socio-technical transitions, and the key components behind them from the multi-level perspective approach. Furthermore, the Rational Choice Theory (RCT) is chosen to understand and explain the rational choice process of individuals and consumer behavior. The study implements RCT on consumer behavior and, under "utility, constraint and belief" factors are defined as sub-categories and highlighted with the support of the theory and previous literature. Additionally, this study adopts a mixed qualitative and quantitative method, and the data is collected by conducted semi-structured interviews and a questionnaire. The study offers a unique integrated theory approach of MLP and RCT to the results and provides an answer to the second research question. Finally, major factors such as cost, financial incentive, consumer knowledge, range, charging stations, environment, and minor other factors as weather and battery, reliability and uncertainty, behavioral change are found to be influencing factors on EV adoption. In conclusion, the study provides a summary of the study and draws conclusions to EU policies. The thesis study concludes by revealing the limitations of the study and offers suggestions to further studies.

Master's thesis:	30 credits
Programme:	Master's Programme in European Studies
Level:	Second Cycle
Semester year:	Spring 2021
Supervisor:	Hanna Martin
	Sustainable Road Transport, Electric Vehicle, Sweden, Rational
Keyword:	Choice Theory, Multi-level Perspective Framework
Word count:	21748

# Acknowledgments

I would like start thanking to my family and friends who stood with me during the whole period. Living abroad is a challenge itself without your loved ones and their support kept me going. It was an incredibly challenging journey where I have learned a lot. Furthermore, I also would like to send my special thanks to Kay Saunders who supervised me at Polestar and gave me a chance to show myself in a workplace where I truly wanted to be a part of. Finally, I would like to thank my supervisor, Hanna Martin. Thank you for all guidance and support during the whole thesis writing period of ups and downs.

I express my warmest thanks to the University of Gothenburg and the European Studies master's program academic staff. It has been an amazing journey with a lot of experiences during the academic year of 2019-2021. I never regretted my choice of neither the university nor the program. It will always stay as a special memory for me where I will carry wherever I go.

Thank you everyone for helping me to achieve my goals and making dreams real.

# Contents

Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations	
1. Introduction	
1.1. Aim and Scope	6
1.2. Research Questions	7
2. Thematic Background of Electric vehicles	
2.1. European Union EV Approach	
2.2. Current EV Registration Situation in Sweden	
3. Literature Review	
3.1. Charging Infrastructure	
3.2. Environmental Concern	
3.3. Purchase Cost and Financial Incentives	14
3.4. Driving Range	
3.5. Technology & Innovation	
4. Theory	
4.1. Multi-level Perspective Framework and Socio-technical Transitions	
4.1.1. Socio-technical Niche	
4.1.2. Socio-technical Regime	
4.1.3. Socio-technical Landscape	
4.2. Rational Choice Theory	
4.2.1. Constraint	23
4.2.2. Utility	24
4.2.3. Belief	
5. Method and material	
5.1. Collecting Data – Questionnaire	
5.1.1. Questionnaire	
5.2. Collecting Data and Material - Semi-Structured Interviews	
5.2.1. Semi-structured Interviews	
5.3. Ethical Considerations	
6. Results	
6.1. Questionnaire Results	
6.2. Semi-structured Interview Results	
6.2.1. Environmental Concern	
6.2.1.1. Non-expert Interview results	
6.2.1.2	
Expert Interview Results	
6.2.1.3. Summary & Comparison	

6.2.2. Range Anxiety	
6.2.2.1 Non-Expert Interview Results	
6.2.2.2 Expert Interview Results	40
6.2.2.3. Summary & Comparison	41
6.2.3. Charging Infrastructure	
6.2.3.1. Non-expert Interview Results	
6.2.3.2. Expert Interview Results	43
6.2.3.3. Summary & Comparison	44
6.2.4. Financial Incentives & Cost	45
6.2.4.1. Non-expert Interview Results	45
6.2.4.2. Expert Interview Results	46
6.2.4.3. Summary & Comparison	46
6.2.5. Consumer Knowledge	47
6.2.5.1. Non-expert Interview Results	47
6.2.5.2. Expert Interview Results	
6.2.5.3. Summary & Comparison	49
6.2.6. Other Factors	50
6.2.6.1. Non-expert Interview Results	
6.2.6.2. Expert Interview Results	51
6.2.6.3. Summary & Comparison	51
7. Analysis	
7.1. Key Factors on EV Adoption	
7.2. Integrated MLP and RCT Approach	56
8. Conclusion	59
8.1. Conclusion	59
8.2. Contributions & Limitations & Further Research	61
References	63
Appendix	
Appendix 1 Semi-structured Interview Guide	
Appendix 2 Semi-structured Interview Participants	
Appendix 3 Questionnaire Text	91
Appendix 4 Questionnaire Results	91

# **Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations**

**Battery Electric Vehicle (BEV or EV):** It refers to any vehicle that runs via an electric motor and battery. It only uses electricity from the grid (Leandra Poindexter Cooper, 2014)

**Bonus Malus:** An idea of rewarding vehicles that emit small amounts of CO2 with a maximum bonus of 70,000 SEK, while burdening vehicles that emit high CO2 with higher vehicle tax

**Directorate-General for Mobility and Transport:** It is a Directorate-General of the European Commission that is responsible for transport in the European Union

**European Commission** (EC)

**European Court of Auditors (ECA)** 

European Environment Agency (EEA)

**European Green Deal**: It is a set of policy initiatives by the European Commission aiming to make Europe climate neutral in 2050

#### **European Union** (EU)

**EU Taxonomy**: The EU taxonomy is a classification system, constituting a list of environmentally sustainable economic activities. It is enabler to enlarge sustainable investment and to implement the European Green Deal (European Commission, 2021a)

EV Driving range: An estimated distance a fully charged EV can run until the battery is out of electricity

Greenhouse Gas (GHG)

**Hybrid Electric Vehicle** (HEV): uses both an electric and a gasoline motor. Electricity used is made onboard, therefore there is no plug-in or electricity from the grid

**Internal Combustion Engine Vehicle** (ICEV): A vehicle that is powered by a regular internal combustion engine and uses fossil fuels (petrol, diesel etc.)

#### Multilevel Perspective Framework (MLP)

**Paris Agreement**: It is a legally binding international treaty on climate change adopted by 196 parties in Paris on 2015 aiming to limit global warming below 2 degrees, preferably 1.5 (United Nations, n.d.a)

**Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle** (PHEV): similar to the HEV, but the electricity used is both made onboard and from the grid **Plug-in Vehicle** (PEV): any vehicle that is charged via electricity from the grid (includes PHEVs, and BEVs)

Range Anxiety: It is a fear that a vehicle has insufficient range to reach the destination

#### **Rational Choice Theory** (RCT)

Raw Materials: The basic materials such as lithium, cobalt, nickel which a product (EV Battery) is made

#### **Socio-technical Transitions** (STT)

**Supply Chain**: A supply chain is the network of all the individuals, resources, activities, organizations, and technology involved in the production and sale of a product. It involves everything from the delivery of source materials from the supplier to the manufacturer to the end user

**Swedish Energy Agency**: It works towards transforming the Swedish Energy system into a sustainable system by collaborating with trade and industry, energy companies, municipalities and the research community on behalf of the Swedish government (Swedish Energy Agency, 2021)

Total cost of ownership: It is the purchase price of an asset (a vehicle) plus the costs of operation

# 1. Introduction

"There are two things keeping electric vehicles away from people. First the price of the vehicle, it is still seen as a luxurious vehicle today, but that will change within five years I can assure you, and the lack of charging infrastructure. We need to stimulate both; we need to act on both very quickly on European level and at national level"

-Frans Timmermans, Executive Vice President of the European Commission for the European Green Deal

#### (European Commission, 2021b)

Climate change is one of the most serious problems that the world is facing. Climate change has several serious impacts on from weather conditions to public health, water, and food security to air quality (The Climate Reality Project, 2017). The transport sector is one of the areas that affect climate badly and according to the European Commission (EC), it represents almost a quarter of Europe's greenhouse gas emissions (European Commission, 2016d). The greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) of the European Union (EU) decreased in some areas in the last years, but the transport emission was not one of the areas. On the contrary, there was a 0.9% and a 0.8% increase in 2018 and 2019 respectively in the EU (European Environment Agency, 2020). The transport sector emissions have more than doubled and increased faster than any other energy end-use sector since 1970 which has led the EU to set CO2 emission targets such as 10% renewable transport fuels by 2020 or CO2 limits for new cars as 95g of C02 by 2020 (Vassileva & Campillo, 2017). Besides, the EC launched the Green Deal in December 2019 which includes sets of policy initiatives that seek a 90% reduction in the transport sector by boosting zero-emission vehicles, building better infrastructure for alternative clean vehicles, etc. by 2050 (European Commission, 2020a).

Although there were several initiatives previously to make the European road transport sustainable such as the Green Car Initiative presented in November 2008 (European Commission, 2016b) or the European Strategy for low-emission mobility presented in 2016 by the Juncker Commission (European Commission, 2016d), the electrification of transport became vital for the EU especially with the Green Deal launch in 2019 that seeks to make Europe climate-neutral continent by 2050. After the Green Deal launch, the EU Commissioner for Transport Adina-Iona Vălean highlighted the importance of making alternatives to conventional private cars affordable and adjusting infrastructure for the goal of eliminating unnecessary emissions (European Parliament, 2019) . The EU wants nearly all vehicles zero-emission by 2050. Hence, the Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy presented by the EC demonstrates that highlights boosting the zero-emission vehicles as a priority for transport to become sustainable (European Commission, 2020a). The EC targets 30 million electric vehicles on the road by 2030 (Abnett, 2020), and there are several steps taken by the Commission to achieve its goals such as prospects of self-sufficiency in the lithium industry, boosting European battery production, new CO2 emission targets coming into force (European Commission, 2020c). In response to all developments, the automotive industry is also in a transition period where battery electric vehicles (BEVs or EVs) are replacing internal combustion engine vehicles (ICEVs).

However, although the EV adoption rate is increasing, from the environmental perspective, EV adoption is not coming fast to make the real change (Aakash Arora, Nathan Niese, Elizabeth Dreyer, Albert Waas, & Alex Xie, 2021). This transition from ICEVs to EVs and EV adoption represents a rapid change and faces challenges in most countries in the EU including Sweden where this research focuses on key factors that influence consumers' willingness on EV adoption in Sweden.

Climate change is a great challenge for countries and the reduction of GHG is therefore vital. The transport sector is one of the areas that affect climate poorly and it represents one-quarter of the total GHG emissions in Sweden (Energimyndigheten, 2018). Depending on the source of electricity, a transition from ICEVs to EVs has a great potential to reduce GHG emissions and to reach the climate targets. Like many other countries, Sweden also set some climate targets, initiatives, and bans which also include the transport sector. Sweden published its climate policy framework in 2017 and set climate targets to reduce GHG emissions and reach climate neutrality by 2045 (Government Offices of Sweden, 2018). The same policy framework also highlights that emissions from domestic transport will have to be reduced at least 30% compared to 2010 by 2030. The Swedish government also announced that Sweden will ban the sales of new petrol and diesel engine cars by 2030.

Sweden is a progressive and fast-forwarding country where environmental concerns are high. In the event of no sales of diesel and engine cars, it is expected that electric cars will gain more importance than they have today. In worldwide, plug-in electric vehicles accounted for only 4.2% of light vehicle sales in 2020 while they accounted for 32.2% (including plug-in hybrids and light vehicles) in Sweden (Felix Richter, 2021). Even though EV adoption is increasing in Sweden, however, according to Vassileva and Campillo (2017) the adoption rate of electric vehicles in Sweden is not enough to reach the national target. Previously, many kinds of research on consumer adoption of EVs highlighted that electric vehicles have the potential to reduce the greenhouse gas emission of the transport sector (Jian Wang & Wei Zhou, 2019). Furthermore, the Swedish Energy Agency highlights more detailed research needs on driving factors that affect the adoption of electric vehicles (Energimyndigheten, 2016).

Given the variety of stakeholders involved, ranging from the automotive sector to national and European authorities, consumers, and other sectors, it is too simplistic to talk about a single innovation that will dominate in the end. Rather, a set of innovative designs or an innovation cluster may be used to electrify road transportation (Rogers, 1995) though not all emerging from the same market. For example, if a country leads in the development of high-performance batteries, another could lead to the development of integrated mobility concepts. Therefore, a country-specific study carries huge importance for depth analysis where in the end might be a resourceful case at the European level. Market conditions within the EU show a certain degree of similarity, and a unified type of approval system, making it easier to diffuse innovation designs. Given the fact that EV adoption is in the early phase and the adoption rate is high only in a few countries, studying and learning from the Swedish case could be helpful on the European level to implement policies

and strategies to help speed up EV adoption. The adoption rate and historical automotive industry hub features of Sweden can be justified as some of the important reasons why Sweden is chosen for this thesis study.

The major benefit of driving an electric vehicle is its production of zero carbon emissions when driving (Julia Poliscanova, n.d), and due to the different characteristic features of other electric vehicle types, in this study, only battery electric vehicles are studied. Also, it is important to highlight that factor perceived as "a fact or situation that influences the result of something" (Cambridge Dictionary, n.d.) in this study. This thesis is structured as follows. First, the research aim and research questions are presented to give an overall idea of the motive behind the research and to identify the specific objectives that the study addresses. Later, the thematic background of electric vehicles is presented. Under this section, the European Union EV approach is viewed to provide more understanding of the EVs from the EU perspective which is followed by the current EV situation in Sweden. After, the thesis continues with the literature review to provide previous research examples. Afterward, the theoretical approach is covered under the theory section. The first chosen multi-level perspective framework is considered to give a more comprehensive understanding of the broader context of the socio-technical transition of ICEVs to EVs while the second chosen rational choice theory looks at the narrower context and describes the rational choice of consumers and their decision-making process. The study continues with the method and material section which explains the chosen data collection materials of semi-structured interviews and the questionnaire and explains the reasoning behind the choices. Next, the study continues with the presentation of the results, and after, the results are analyzed and research questions are answered in the analysis section. Finally, the summary of the study, contributions to the literature, limitations, and further research suggestions are addressed under the conclusion.

## 1.1. Aim and Scope

The overall research aim is to understand the key influencer factors on consumers' willingness to adopt EVs in Sweden. The consumer factor on EV adoption seems not given enough attention in Sweden based on the literature review. Although the study did not conduct EU document analysis due to its scope, this is also applicable to the EU level when looking at the published EU documents or high-profile EU Commissioners' statements. There is a research need that covers the sustainability transition of the automotive industry from ICEVs to EVs (Energimyndigheten, 2016) focusing on the perspective of consumers and key factors that have an impact on their willingness to adopt electric vehicles in Sweden.

The study identified two research gaps from the research review. First, a research gap that aims to provide key influencing factors on EV adoption in Sweden. Second, a research gap regarding the consumer factor and its role in the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs. Therefore, this study aims at addressing these two research gaps. Also, the study argues that focusing on a member state will help the European cause since, first, countries have similar characteristics in the EU and innovations have a high speed of diffusion rate in similar countries, and second, the transition is a shared competence in the EU that needs national level input. Therefore, one member state, Sweden is chosen, and the thesis aims at addressing the research gaps by focusing on key factors on EV adoption in Sweden, and consumers role the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs and aims to draw conclusions for EU policies.

## 1.2. Research Questions

Understanding the factors that affect people's willingness to adopt electric vehicles is vital for Europe's long-term climate goals. The transition of the automotive industry from ICEVs to EVs is an exciting journey to follow and due to the freshness of the topic and the latest developments mentioned, there is a research need in this field. Besides, the current EV adoption figures are not enough to reach the transport emission and climate neutrality goals. There is a research need to understand the factors that influence consumers' willingness on EV adoption. Therefore, the main research question in this study is:

- What are the key factors that influence people's willingness to adopt electric cars in Sweden?

The second research question is formulated to understand and provide an answer to consumers' role in the transition from ICEVs to EVs.

- How can the consumer factor in the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs be perceived?

# 2. Thematic Background of Electric vehicles

# 2.1. European Union EV Approach

In the last couple of years, several environment relevant events and changes have happened in Sweden, Europe, and the world such as the climate change strike that took place in many countries organized, the Paris Agreement, sustainability popularization, electric car commitments from car companies, the rise of green policies and parties, Covid19, EU's Green Deal launch, and many more. The automotive industry is also taking an action and transforming itself towards more sustainable road transport options such as battery electric vehicles. This transition includes and requires many actors due to its complexity such as car companies, national and European governments, policymakers and regulations, consumers. The EU is one of the influencer actors that had been working on sustainable transport solutions even before the last couple of years' events and the Green Deal. The EC includes a Commissioner for Transport, Adina Iona Vălean, and since 2012, the EC also includes a Directorate-General for Mobility and Transport which is responsible for EU policies on mobility and transport and manages funding for technological development, innovation (European Commission, n.d.c). Transport is a shared competence between the EU and the member states and it is seen as one of the EU's most strategic common policies (EUR-Lex, n.d.). It is also seen as the cornerstone of European integration and significant for the free movement of individuals, services, and goods as well as a success story that connects people across the continent. As Europe has become more connected and mobile, so the carbon footprint from transport has grown. Transport accounts for a quarter of the EU's GHG emissions and which has been increasing as the demand grows (J. Smith, 2016). Currently, Europe is leading in EV sales in the world (Lu, 2021) as well as has the most ambitious goals such as being the first climateneutral country that was announced with the Green Deal launch. The European Green Deal seeks a 90% reduction in transport by 2050 and the key objective for the EU is to switch to clean vehicles and alternative fuels as well as regulate the CO2 emissions performance standards. For example, the EU Commissioner for Transport Adina-Iona Vălean stated that "this deal cannot be complete without transport at its core" and committed herself to green the mobility (European Parliament, 2019). However, several authors argue that the EU needs to cut light-vehicle emissions by 90% by 2043, seven years earlier than currently planned (Aakash Arora et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the electric vehicle adoption level is not on course to deliver on this goal in the EU.

On 1 January 2020, Regulation (EU) 2019/631 entered into force which replaced and repealed the former Regulations (EC) 443/2009 (cars) and (EU) 510/2011 (vans) (European Commission, n.d.b). One of the targets of the Green Deal is to reduce GHG emissions at least 55% by 2030 and the EC is preparing a revision of the Regulation as part of the 'Fit for 55%' package for which is expected to be adopted by

the Commission on the third quarter of 2021 (European Commission, n.d.a). The EC also highlighted the importance of electric vehicles in its green finance taxonomy, mentioning that only cars which emit zero CO2 will be considered as "sustainable" investments as of 2026 (European Commission, 2019b). In the Inception Impact Assessment report of the EC, however, the cost of CO2 emissions to society is mentioned as an external cost, and consumers tend to undervalue future fuel savings and not to pay more for zero-emission vehicles (European Commission, 2021c). Other barriers of vehicle and battery cost, model availability, availability of recharging infrastructure are mentioned in the document. Besides, the document highlights that under the Green Deal, the EU will invest to build charging infrastructure as part of the Next Generation EU that allows zero-emission vehicles to travel across Europe. The charging and infrastructure availability are again seen as a priority in order to achieve mass acceptance of deployment of EVs in the EC's 'A European Strategy for Low-Emission Mobility' paper in 2016 (European Commission, 2016a). The EC estimates that Europe will need 3 million public charging points by 2030, and promises a "roll-out plan with funding opportunities and requirements" (Taylor, 2020). It seems that the EC highlights some issues, e.g., cost, infrastructure, and charging stations, as barriers to mass acceptance. According to an EC draft document, reaching the bloc's climate goals will require 'at least' 30 million electric vehicles by 2030 (Abnett, 2020) which the number of EV registrations in 2019 and 2020 was 550,000 and 750,000 respectively (Statista, 2021). Although the EC's plan to have 30 million EVs on the road by 2030 is quite ambitious, it does not reflect the current reality and consumer roles on EV adoption seem undervalued. The Green Deal calls for a 55% reduction in emissions from the EU's car sector by 2030 from a 1990 baseline of 433 million metric tons of CO2 equivalents, and more than a 90% reduction by 2050. However, based on an estimation by Aakash Arora et al. (2021), zero-emission vehicles will account for 42% of new sales in 2030, and gasoline and dieselpowered vehicles will account for 65% of the EU's total vehicle. Consequently, it is estimated that the EU passenger vehicle sector will only be able to reduce GHG emissions by 28%, far from the 55% goal. Currently, the electric vehicle adoption level is not on track to meet this goal.

The member states of the EU are the core of the EU's policies and regulations and studying and understanding member states specific features carries significant importance to be able to meet the EU's goals. In Europe, countries have similar characteristics, and studying a member state is often valuable to other countries as well. Also, according to European Environment Agency (2021), the European Green Deal and sustainability transitions do not only require technological change but also changes in consumption and social practices. Therefore, the study focuses on consumers who often practice social changes and consume from a member state level on EV adoption.

## 2.2. Current EV Registration Situation in Sweden

Electric vehicles do not have a negative carbon footprint, instead, the emission depends on the power source. Since over 90 percent of the electricity production in Sweden is generated from renewable or nuclear sources (Sweden.se, 2020), the greenhouse gas emissions of electric cars are low which creates a high positive impact on Sweden's climate neutrality goal. However, the EV adoption numbers are currently not high in Sweden even though the adaptation is increasing. *Figure 1* shows the distribution of the total amount of cars in Sweden in 2020 which were 4, 944 067 while only 3% percent of it represented electric hybrids and 1% electric vehicles (Trafik Analys, 2021). However, diesel and petrol engine cars represented 89% of the total vehicles in Sweden even though a slight decrease of 2% between 2019 and 2020. *Figure 2* statistics highlight the new car registrations in Sweden which shows that the new petrol and diesel car registration percentage still was high as 38% and 22% respectively in 2020. During the same period, Sweden introduced a bonus-malus system in which new environmentally friendly car registrations were offered 60000 SEK after 1 July 2018 (MiljöFordon, 2020). According to Trafik Analys (2021), the bonus-malus system affected the new electric vehicles' registrations which increased from 2% in 2018 to 9% in 2020. While electric hybrids represented 8% of new car registrations, electric vehicles and plug-in hybrids represented 9% and 22% of the total percentage respectively.

The above information provides two insights. First, electric vehicles represent a very small amount in the total number of vehicles in Sweden even though the electric vehicle registrations are increasing. Second, the financial incentive by the government is seen as a factor that increases the total number of electric vehicle registrations in Sweden (Trafik Analys, 2021). The bonus-malus amount, however, was increased by the government from 60,000 SEK to 70,000 SEK (Regeringskansliet, 2020) which this change might lead to an increase in the number of electric vehicle registrations in 2021.



Figure 1 The distribution of the total amount of cars in Sweden, 2020 (Trafik Analys, 2021)



Figure 2 The new car registrations in Sweden, 2020 (Trafik Analys, 2021)

# 3. Literature Review

In general, most previous studies on this topic are dated (Egnér & Trosvik, 2018; Jansson, Nordlund, & Westin, 2017; Vassileva & Campillo, 2017) or focused on several countries in Europe (Haustein & Jensen, 2018; Haustein, Jensen, & Cherchi, 2021; Statharas, Moysoglou, Siskos, Zazias, & Capros, 2019). This is a topic where needs a constant update since the electrification of vehicles has recently become serious. Considering the short (e.g., 2030 emission goals) and long-term (e.g., climate neutrality by 2045) national goals set by the Swedish government, it might be possible to better understand the importance of ongoing research in this context. There is previous research focused on EV adoption from different perspectives such as local policy impacts (Egnér & Trosvik, 2018), early adopters (Vassileva & Campillo, 2017), future scenarios (Katharina Rossbach, 2015), urban, sub-urban, rural (Newman, Wells, Donovan, Nieuwenhuis, & Davies, 2014) or different country focus, namely China and the Netherlands (Jian Wang & Wei Zhou, 2019; Robbert Slot, 2017) but not on the particular topic of focusing on key factors that influence people's willingness on EV adoption in Sweden. It should be noted that the factors presented below are chosen after a careful and detailed research review. Although there are several influencing factors found and considered from previous research, e.g., perceived social influence (Jian Wang & Wei Zhou, 2019), urban density, and vehicle diversity (Ali Soltani-Sobh, Kevin Heaslip, Ryan Bosworth, Ryan Barnes, & Donghyung Yook, 2015) or family factors (Li, Long, Chen, & Geng, 2017), the below factors by the previous research are found to be the most researched and relevant factors on EV adoption in Sweden and Europe, and therefore, they are chosen and included in this thesis to narrow the influencing factors to most researched, relevant and key factors.

### 3.1. Charging Infrastructure

The main difference between EVs and ICEs is the fact that EVs do not run on fossil fuels but electricity. Therefore, electric vehicles are needed to be charged from time to time depending on the driving range of the car, driving behavior of a person, weather conditions, etc. The current structure in rural and urban areas is not designed for electric vehicles and therefore, there is a lack of charging stations in many locations. Another related issue is the charging need and time of electric vehicles. Previous research on EVs in Sweden and Denmark by Haustein and Jensen (2018) highlights that charging the car is found as the most important factor and barrier for EV adoption intention. At the same time, increasing the charging infrastructure is seen as the highest relevance for the current EV owners. Vassileva and Campillo (2017) also underline the charging time and lack of structure as a barrier and stress the importance of offering free charging as a monetary incentive to boost EV adoption. Furthermore, they justify Norway's success and becoming the top EV user country by their financial incentive and an effective charging infrastructure network construct. On the contrary, however, Westin et al. (2018) underline that lack of extensive charging infrastructure is not considered an obstacle in Norway where most people charge at home. But they also focus on geographical context and characteristics' importance on EV adoption in their study where people live in rural areas or drive long distances to get to work. In this manner, they highlight the importance of charging infrastructure and stress that lack of charging infrastructure could serve as a psychological barrier. The previous research clearly shows that the lack of charging infrastructure is an important factor and can be a barrier to EV adoption.

## 3.2. Environmental Concern

Climate change and environmental concerns are important topics of the last couple of years. As previously mentioned, the main reason for this transition from ICEVs to EVs is a will to decrease the environmental impact of vehicles. The transport sector is responsible for one-quarter of the total greenhouse gas emission in Sweden and Sweden has set a target to achieve fossil independent vehicles by 2030 (Egnér & Trosvik, 2018). It is, therefore, important to consider environmental concerns on EV adoption, especially in a country like Sweden. Sweden has been ranked several times as one of the most innovative countries in the world as well as an environmental pioneer (Vassileva & Campillo, 2017). Besides, Sweden has other characteristics that make the country very suitable for large-scale EV adoption such as a large share of renewable energy sources (Sweden.se, 2020). Although Egnér and Trosvik (2018) highlight that environmentally beneficial technologies often have slow diffusion rates,

several studies (Haustein & Jensen, 2018; Jansson et al., 2017; Jian Wang & Wei Zhou, 2019; Rezvani et al., 2015; Westin et al., 2018) underline that environmental concern is an important factor for the EV adoption. An interesting result found by Haustein and Jensen (2018) shows that people who bought an electric vehicle use their cars more often than previously. The reason for this is because the car is seen as an eco-friendly car which results in increased mileage. EVs are mainly considered eco-friendly and seen as a symbol for environmental concern according to Rezvani et al. (2015). However, a comparative study including 30 countries highlighted by Westin et al. (2018) found no proof of environmental concern. They also underline another study from Norway which shows high environmental expression in terms of EV adoption. A survey example in Vassileva and Campillo (2017)'s study underlines that environmental concern was the most attractive motive to adopt an electric vehicle for both women and men (55% and 45% respectively). As explained in their study, environmental concerns were a huge driver for the early EV adopters in Sweden as well as factors such as government support and economic concerns. In general, the main reason why the transition towards electrification happens is because of the willingness to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from road transport. Therefore, it can be argued that environmental concern is an important factor for many people to consider adopting an electric vehicle.

## 3.3. Purchase Cost and Financial Incentives

The cost of the car is highly important for many people to even consider purchasing a car. Today, electric cars are more expensive than traditional combustion engine cars due to their expensive rechargeable lithium-ion batteries (*Why Are Electric Cars More Expensive than Conventional Ones? / Drupal*, n.d.). Financial incentives, therefore, are seen as a key factor to be considered in EV adoption because of the high price of EVs. Even though the operational costs of EVs are relatively low and cheaper in the long term than the ICEVs, the initial purchase cost is still very important for many people (Ingeborgrud & Ryghaug, 2019). Levay and Drossinos (2017) argue that the high purchase cost of electric vehicles is a significant barrier to sales. Furthermore, even though Rezvani et al. (2015) highlight the importance of financial incentives and their positive influence on the intention of EV adoption, they also argue that there are further research needs on financial incentives' effects. Based on the previous literature review by Egnér and Trosvik (2018), nationally implemented financial incentives and locally implemented policies have a constructive impact on EV adoption. However, the effectiveness of Sweden's national financial instruments promoting EVs has been found insufficient by them. It is worth mentioning at this point that Egnér and Trosvik (2018)'s study was published in 2017 and the literature reference based on the argument of Sweden's national financial incentives weakness was published in 2015 and 2014. This

is one of the areas where the thesis aims to fill the research gap and look through the incentives impacts from the 2021 perspective. Consequently, due to the high purchase cost of EVs, governments offer financial incentives to encourage and direct people towards eco-friendly vehicle adoption.

### 3.4. Driving Range

Recent developments in electric vehicle batteries have significantly improved the driving range of some EVs. The current range of EVs varies from 95km to 750km which also depends on several factors such as driving style, temperature, etc. The concern that the vehicle's range is inadequate to meet its destination is commonly known as range anxiety. Haustein and Jensen (2018) argue that range anxiety is considered as a functional barrier while Vassileva and Campillo (2017) highlight the importance of increasing driving range as a non-monetary incentive to increase EV adoption. Besides, Haustein and Jensen. (2018) provides a finding that charging the car is perceived as the most important functional barrier of EV adoption intention. A study on Denmark and Sweden by Haustein et al. (2021) shows that range anxiety is perceived as a functional barrier and it is one of the most important factors along with charging infrastructure and environmental performance when looking at EV users. However, Rezvani et al. (2015) argue that range limitation and charging behavior are parts of the adaptation process and need behavioral change. Their study also underlines that range anxiety is likely to disappear if consumers consider EVs as an urban transportation method. It is, however, arguable that in some big cities people might need a long drive to get to work than in rural areas. In their study, it has been demonstrated that a limited range of EVs can be overcome by methods such as driver training and interface design. However, this kind of approach might face resistance by the customers and find this unpractical in terms of largescale EV adoptions in countries. A study carried out in Europe discovers that 60% of drivers would not consider a driving range less than 160km even though they drive less than 160 km in a day (Vassileva & Campillo, 2017). These findings are important to consider when providing EV policies, campaigns, etc. to educate consumers and reduce the range anxiety.

## 3.5. Technology & Innovation

Electric cars do not only bring environmental benefits but also new technology, experience, and excitement to their users. According to Egnér & Trosvik, 2018, the adoption choice of an electric car is because they are seen as one of the most attractive technology alternatives to ICEVs. However, there is inconsistency with this argument, given the fact that biofuel cars, for instance, were also seen as an attractive technology alternative to ICEVs at some point (Fevolden & Klitkou, 2017). However, they did not become as successful as EVs are today. This can be understood by Leandra Poindexter Cooper (2014)'s study on acceptance and technological innovation. According to her, acceptance and technology innovation never happens in one dimension. The success or failure of innovation is influenced by several factors, and only one of them is technological performance. Jansson et al. (2017) also highlight that consumers choose electric cars not only for their environmental benefits but also for their innovativeness and technological boom. Vehicle technology awareness is also a significant factor to be considered to increase awareness and finally EV adoption. This view is supported by Haustein et al. (2021)'s research that proves the population in Denmark and Sweden have little knowledge about EVs even though the technology has been around for several decades. Vassileva and Campillo. (2017) focuses on Sweden's pioneer position on developing alternative fuel technology since the 1970s with the support of strong policy frameworks. This, however, changed after 2010 due to the negative social and environmental impacts of biofuels which made policymakers more cautious to adopt strong policies to support EVs. Concerning EV adoption, new technologies and innovativeness are perceived as exciting and seen as influencing factors.

# 4. Theory

## 4.1. Multi-level Perspective Framework and Socio-technical Transitions

Understanding large-scale transitions and why do they happen is significant to understand and analyze the key factors that affect consumers' willingness to adopt electric vehicles. Previously mentioned, moving from ICEVs to EVs is a transition period which requires change within various stage, place, or subject. Oxford dictionary describes the transition as "*a process or a period of changing from one state to another*" (Oxford Dictionary, n.d.). Nonetheless, the transition might have various meanings to different people depending on the situation where it is used. However, I will address transitions from the framework of the multi-level perspective to understand societal and technological changes. Transition research generally acknowledges the critical role of firms in driving transitions as well as emphasizes the multitude of actors' involvement and the role of consumers and demand. However, much potential remains to generate insights into how this interrelation functions from the consumer perspective (Steinhilber, Wells, & Thankappan, 2013a). Therefore, I will first describe the sociotechnical transition and multi-level perspective approach. I will then try implementing the customer perspective and EV adoption into the MLP which I hope will provide valuable insight into the literature.

Electric vehicle batteries are the technological part of this transition but also there are technological changes that are needed such as charging infrastructure. Therefore, the technological part of the transition cannot be perceived from one technological change. It is rather on the change of an entire complex technological system that is embedded in a societal context in which consumers are part of that societal context. Technology is mentioned as 'configurations that work' and configurations as alignment between a heterogeneous range of variables by Geels (2002). Figure 3 represents the socio-technical configuration for personal transportation which I will use to analyze consumer perspective on electric vehicle adoption. As it is shown, many elements in the sociotechnical configuration are intersectional. A change in one element is highly likely to affect another one. Looking at **Figure 3** below, it can be said that several factors such as regulations, policies, infrastructure, culture, etc., are part of the sociotechnical configurations in personal transportation. In Sweden, the environment has culturally an important place in the society where people feel obliged to act. Having an electric car might carry a symbolic meaning to people who care about climate change deeply and feel obliged to act. Furthermore, the fuel infrastructure shown below is relevant to battery charging infrastructure availability in rural and urban areas where people charge their electric vehicles. However, the cost of the car can be seen as an important factor for many people as electric vehicles are expensive and seen as premium today. This is also relevant with symbolic meaning where people are willing to pay more because of the innovation & excitement reason and the environmental concern. But the price of the EV can be reduced by local, national, and European initiatives, regulations, and policies. The driving range of batteries is seen as a major barrier for many people known as 'range anxiety'. User practices, however, could be useful to reduce range anxiety. This transition, like many others, requires behavior change where people need to adapt to the 'new normal'. Other relevant factors on EV adoption, for instance, could be the maintenance of batteries where there might be trust issues towards batteries, e.g., explosion risk. Consequently, the socio-technical approach to transitions views transport systems as a set of elements. All of these elements shown and described are interrelated where radical new technologies have a difficult time coming through since many elements have linked each other and to the existing technology (Geels, 2002).



*Figure 3 Sociotechnical configuration in personal transportation (Geels, 2002)* 

The socio-technical approaches emphasize multi-dimensional interactions among technology, policy, culture, civil society, and industry. Understanding large-scale transitions require analytical frameworks that capable of addressing interactions among various actors. The multi-level perspective (MLP) approach is the chosen framework for this study. On the one hand, established systems (ICEVs) are characterized by stability, lock-in, and path dependency, all of which lead to gradual change along predictable paths (Geels, 2012). On the other hand, radical alternatives (EVs) are being developed and brought forward. Implementing this to the EV adoption, electric vehicles are having a hard time against

established ICEVs since they are more expensive and require user behavior change and adoption, regulations change, and existing lack of charging infrastructure, etc. The MLP has emerged as a fruitful framework for analyzing socio-technical transitions towards sustainability (Geels, 2011) which offers a solution to the central analytical complexity of transitions.

#### 4.1.1. Socio-technical Niche

According to MLP, socio-technical transformations are characterized by interactions between the incumbent "regime", radical "niche developments," and the "socio-technical landscape" (Geels, Sovacool, Schwanen, & Sorrell, 2017). Transitions are regarded as multi-phase, multi-level processes. Niche innovations are emerging social or technical innovations that are radically different from the existed socio-technical system and regime. Niche-actors hope that radical innovation is used more eventually and even replace the existing regime. Geels (2012) highlights their importance by saying that they are the seeds for systemic change. He then provides three processes within niches shortly as the learning process, the articulation of expectations or visions, and the building of a social network. The learning process involves several actors from policy instruments to market demand, infrastructure requirements to user behavior. Implementing this to EV adoption and consumers, it can be argued that consumers are still in the discovery and learning process. Consumers adapt their expectations from a car based on various factors such as driving range. Lastly, people build networks all the time and share information, even sometimes unintentionally. Cars' cultural and symbolic meanings emerge from interactions between consumers, the media, and social networks (Geels, 2002). From this perspective, it can be stated that niches gain momentum when they are more visible, shared, and in the end accepted.

#### 4.1.2. Socio-technical Regime

Regimes keep a socio-technical system stable by offering "*a semi-coherent collection of rules that orient and coordinate the actions of social groups that replicate the different elements of socio-technical structures*" (Wesseling, Bidmon, & Bohnsack, 2020, p.2). Technologies that benefit from well-developed systems must compete with innovations. Socio-technical frameworks are the product of the alignment of existing technologies, policies, consumer habits, infrastructures, and cultural discourses (Geels, 2012). In existing regimes, innovation is often gradual because of lock-in processes and route dependency. Change tends to occur, but it does so in reasonably predictable ways, resulting in a stable path. Consumer lifestyles, regulations, and laws are great examples of lock-in mechanisms. For many

years, consumers have built the regular practice of using internal combustion engine vehicles. This is a daily habit where people know that if they want to fuel the car up, they need to go to a petrol station. Relevant to this, road infrastructure is built up to this kind of lifestyle where people can find petrol stations on their route without worrying. However, this lifestyle needs to change with EV adoption. To begin with, many people will charge their electric vehicles at home as almost everyone does with their smartphones now. Also, due to the waiting time of charging, it is important to plan long trips. The old lifestyle would not necessarily need planning the road trip in terms of fueling the car. Furthermore, it is also the same for regulations and laws where serious changes are needed. It usually starts as local, national, or European governments start putting limitations, but limitations increase and come closer to the real change over time. An example of this from a European perspective is EU regulations that put CO2 emission reduction targets in place (European Commission, 2016c) that turned into the 2050 climate neutrality goal by time (European Commission, 2019a). As an EU member state, Sweden also follows the European regulations and sets its targets as well. The climate neutrality goal of Sweden is 2045, which is 5 years earlier than the EU's target is a good example. Furthermore, it is important to note that "regime" is an interpretive analytical term that encourages the analyst to look into the "deep framework" of practices, such as shared values, standards, standardized processes (Geels, 2012) where this study aims to research from the consumer's perspective in Sweden. Consequently, socio-technical regimes produce incremental innovations, e.g., the transition of one technological system (ICEVs) to another one (EVs) that happens in close interaction of a societal context where consumer adoption plays an important role.

#### 4.1.3. Socio-technical Landscape

The socio-technical landscape is a broader context, which influences niche and regime dynamics as **Figure 4** presents below. As previously mentioned, the three levels are intertwined with each other where changes occur and affect each other. However, changes at the landscape level, such as a collection of deep structural patterns, social values, or worldviews, destabilize the regime and open doors for niche innovation to extend, become a part or even reposition the current regime (Wesseling et al., 2020). For example, the way Greta Thunberg traveled, e.g., arriving at a climate summit by an electric car, is a powerful way of influencing people to think twice when driving a traditional vehicle. The powerful moments in a landscape influence change in regimes and niches as well. The socio-technical landscape encompasses structures such as political ideologies, societal values, beliefs, concerns, the media landscape (Geels, 2012). The movement also has its impacts on the auto industry. Even a car company, Volkswagen, promoted its ID car brand by referring to the Paris Agreement's goal of climate and Greta

Thunberg and her movement's important demands (Volkswagen, n.d.). Although this is highly likely to be a commercial move, it is not for this study to investigate as the point is the importance of the sociotechnical landscape's broader context and what kind of actions might affect niche and regime. As the examples show, this is an approach where various stakeholders are nested. Changes in the sociotechnical landscape influence niche innovation and regime and go beyond the control of individual actors. At the same time, these changes namely Greta Thunberg's electric car use, the EU climate regulations, and law or an automotive manufacturer's commitment influence consumers and their behavior. It is either people who are admired due to the influencer effect or forced to change their behavior due to the law and regulations and possibly adopt an EV. Finally, all these changes at the landscape level impact and destabilize the regime and create a great opportunity for niche innovation to take its place (Wesseling et al., 2020).



Figure 4 Presenting landscape, regimes, and niches (Geels, 2002)

Finally, the MLP has the potential to offer more understanding concerning the actual role of actors (e.g., consumers) in the transition period. In a nutshell, within the MLP, innovation emerges in niches and these niches work on radical innovations that overtake existing regimes. Besides, niches gain momentum and become certain and accepted if social networks become bigger. In another saying that is more proper to this study is more EV adoptions by consumers make social networks bigger. And in the end, niche actors hope that promised innovations replace the existing regimes. Therefore, it is important to mention that niches are crucial for transitions and the choice of multi-level perspective approach is well within the line in the transitions since the MLP represents an interpretive research style. This is also in line with uncertain processes such as socio-technical transitions where this study aims to gain more insight knowledge. Although the MLP has been criticized by some researchers due to its lack of agency (A.

Smith, Stirling, & Berkhout, 2005), operationalization (Berkhout, Smith, & Stirling, 2004) or its explanatory style (Genus & Coles, 2008), it is still thought to be a well fit for the aim of this study.

## 4.2. Rational Choice Theory

Why did you buy a specific brand and model of your vehicle? How did you decide to buy it? Have you ever considered you could have bought something else instead of your current vehicle? Perhaps you chose to buy an expensive vehicle due to several reasons. You could have perhaps saved 150000 SEK if you have chosen a model lower and save some money in the long term. Does that mean that your vehicle is worth 150000 SEK more? What is the value of your vehicle to you? How could you assess the value? It is hard for people to decide what options or a product to choose over another one as there are many options to consider. Besides options, various factors impact consumers' behavior when they want to choose or purchase a product. The rational choice theory (RCT) is a valuable theory that aims to provide an answer to people's decision-making process. The RCT is defined to mean the process of determining what options are available and choosing the most preferred one according to a coherent criterion (Levin & Milgrom, 2004). The theory has been discussed and developed over the years by several researchers (Smith, 1991; SMELSER, 1992; Posner, 1998). The theory is used in various fields from economics to psychology, anthropology to political science. In economics, for instance, the RCT became an unchallenged theory where it is commonly referred to as an "economic approach" (Chai, 2001). One of the main strengths of the RCT is that its traditional assumptions of actors are cautious and applicable for a broad range of environments, generating hypotheses about action in these environments. Additionally, the attractiveness of rational choice theory is found to be as no further questions are needed once the rational choice is complete (Boudon, 1998).

The rational choice theory defends that all actors have a logically consistent belief in the results of their actions (Chai, 2001). Several scholars in consumer EV adoption research have considered EV adoption behavior as rational behavior and measured consuming attitudes to EVs in different dimensions to predict consumer buying intentions for EVs (Carley, Krause, Lane, & Graham, 2013; Jensen, Cherchi, & Mabit, 2013; Lieven, Mühlmeier, Henkel, & Waller, 2011; Zhang, Yu, & Zou, 2011). The theory of rational choice usually begins with a view to the choice of one or several different decision-making units which are usually consumers. Anable, Skippon, Schuitema, and Kinnear (2016) state that RCT is the primary theoretical paradigm used in economics to understand the behavior of individuals. The adoption of electric vehicles is generally viewed as more rational and takes more time to consider since it is an infrequent act of considerable financial expenditure (Anable et al., 2016). The RCT is a suitable theory

to analyze and understand consumer behaviors on electric vehicle adoption. The basic premise of rational choice theory is that people do their best given the circumstances. This makes consumers analyze and consider some topics before adopting electric vehicles which are seen as premium today due to their price range. Furthermore, EVs are generally regarded as environmentally friendly innovations and from this point, EV adoption can be considered as pro-environmental behavior. This is underlined by Bamberg and Möser (2007) stating that pro-environmental behaviors are motivated by a combination of self-interest (as theorized by the Rational Choice Theory) and consideration of other people and the environment.

The process of determining what options are better and then choosing the preferred one over another lies at the heart of RCT (Levin & Milgrom, 2004). Rational choice is described as following "*an agent should choose the course of action that leads to what she thinks is the best consequence*" (Paternotte, 2011, p.2). Rational evaluation is quite important especially in the case of buying an electric vehicle since they are more expensive than traditional vehicles and carry an environmentally friendly logo on them. According to Dagsvik, Wennemo, Wetterwald, and Aaberge (2002), consumers make a rational evaluation and consideration of vehicle brands, their attributes to maximize the benefit of the product. Also, consumers' willingness to adopt can be affected by various elements. For example, Sato (2013) states that utility, constraints, and beliefs are highly critical elements in implementing RCT into consumer behaviors.

Electric vehicles are considered to be a promising alternative to fossil fuel vehicles but they have failed to compete with ICEVs even though their adaptation increase (Steinhilber et al., 2013). Today there are many factors to consider before the adaptation of an electric car. Vassileva and Campillo (2017) highlight different criteria such as environmental concern, cost, new technology & excitement, and financial incentives by the governmental authorities that have an impact on people's willingness to adopt electric vehicles. Understanding the factors to electric vehicle adaption is an important step to create, adjust and implement local, national, and EU level policies, marketing strategies, infrastructure, or any other relevant requirements to fight against climate change and reach national and European climate targets. Different relevant factors for this study's intention to research are presented under the following sections of constraint, utility, and belief.

#### 4.2.1. Constraint

Consumers often face challenges when they want to adopt a product due to several reasons such as financial situation. This is especially important when it comes to electric vehicle adoption as they are

more expensive than internal combustion engine vehicles as mentioned previously. Flamm and Agrawal (2012) consider constraints that prevent people with environmental concerns from purchasing 'green' vehicles. The budget constraint is common in consumer choice (Steven L. Green, 2002). Consumers may make a rational decision to buy what they want, but it is based on their circumstances. According to Scott (2021), individuals act within specific constraints and based on the information they have about contexts in which they are acting. As often, it is not possible for consumers to achieve all the variety of things they desire, the impact of constraints on consumers carries significant importance. Rational consumers select the option that is most likely to provide the most satisfaction. The second step in the rational choice process according to Ogu (2013) is to identify the constraints that agents (consumers) face that comes after the first step which is identifying the relevant agents and making assumptions about their objectives. Therefore, constraints play an important role in consumer behavior in rational choice theory. This study considers charging infrastructure availability and purchase cost and driving range as part of constraints.

#### 4.2.2. Utility

The theory of rational choice ensures that human behavior is based upon benefits and utility maximization (Rezvani et al., 2015). Actors select an alternative that they believe will result in a social outcome that maximizes their utility within subjectively defined constraints (Sato, 2013). They then prioritize potential social outcomes based on their utility. If an outcome of purchasing an EV over the outcome of purchasing an ICE is preferred, this means that EV's utility is greater than the ICEV. If they had complete information on the EV (e.g., enough to trigger willingness to adopt, not necessarily every technical information) and no blocker constraints on their choice, then they would choose the best outcome that offers the greatest utility, the EV. The utility is especially important in electric vehicles because the majority of consumers buy electric vehicles for daily use, which is referred to as the daily utility of electric vehicles (Rezvani et al., 2015). The use of vehicles has a daily impact on people's lives and, therefore, many need to maximize their utility by making the best choice in terms of vehicle adoption. Additionally, Rezvani et al. (2015) also underline that EV's technical features and perceptions of the utility of EV's are seen both as driving and hindering factors on electric vehicle adoption. If it is applied to electric vehicles, the most relevant one is the batteries and driving range that comes from the battery technicalities. But other EV factors such as noise, speed, performance are also important to consider. Therefore, this study underlines innovation, and technology, financial incentives are critical factors to be analyzed under utility.

#### 4.2.3. Belief

Beliefs are affected by personal values and personal values play an important role in the rational consumer choice period. A person who cares about the environment deeply, for instance, is more likely to approach purchasing or choosing environmentally friendly transport options. This applies to a country where historically environment has been an important part of daily life, policies, etc. EV adoption behavior has been considered as environmentally friendly behavior in which adoption literature has primarily focused on values, beliefs, norms, and pro-environmental attitudes (Rezvani et al., 2015). Prior probability refers to when a fact is not known, an individual should have beliefs about it (Gilboa, Postlewaite, & Schmeidler, 2012). Besides, expected utility is considered when an individual faces a decision problem, the person should maximize expected utility with the respect to personal beliefs in line with all information the individual has. Kaidesoja (2012) perceives desires and beliefs as intentional mental events of individuals and describes the cause of action as a "*constellation of desires, beliefs, and opportunities in the light of which the action appears reasonable*" (Kaidesoja, 2012, p.7). In this study, therefore, environmental concern is chosen to be analyzed as part of belief.

There are, however, some critics that have been raised towards the RCT. In the rational choice theory, for example, 'rational' reflects an agent's most preferred feasible choice which according to Steven L. Green (2002), is a quite narrow definition. Furthermore, the RCT assumes that individual action is instrumental meaning it can be explained by the actors' will to reach certain goals but Boudon (1998) points out that action is not supposed to be always instrumental and which makes RCT non-applicable to all types of action. Even though the raised criticism towards the RCT, it is found to be a good match for this thesis' study.

# 5. Method and material

### 5.1. Collecting Data – Questionnaire

In this study, I combined quantitative and qualitative method approaches focusing on a questionnaire and in-depth semi-structured interviews for the data collection. At first, I conducted a questionnaire to get an overall perspective on the EV adoption factors that were found to be relevant in the theory and literature review. To administer the questionnaire and obtain data, I followed the five stages proposed by Shin and Shin (2011): 1) finding possible factors; 2) administering the factors; 3) exploring the reliability of the administered factors; 4) conducting a pilot questionnaire and; 5) conducting the main questionnaire. Before it was administrated, the questionnaire was tested by 10 participants selected from different gender, ages, and professional varieties. The questionnaire had both open-ended and closeended questions. Then the questionnaire was administrated online in April 2021 by using an online survey development cloud-based software and the language was English. The first attempt to reach out to an e-mail list for participants was through Swedish Energy Agency and Swedish Transport Agency; however, it was not successful. The emails sent to Swedish Transport Agency did not receive any return. Also, Swedish Energy Agency declined to give an e-mail list but rather a person accepted to be a part of the interviews. Another option was to use Polestar's email list; however, I did not choose this option not to make the study biased and focused on one car company's consumers' perspective. Finally, the distribution of the questionnaire was made through the University of Gothenburg's European Studies Program, and the Department of Political Science, and several social media platforms including LinkedIn, Instagram, and various Facebook groups. For every channel that the questionnaire was distributed, an informational text was written to inform the potential recipient (see Appendix 3). There was no age limitation except being 18+ older. The reason for that was to represent all age groups in the study as EVs are seen as the future transport model as well as today's increasing trend.

#### 5.1.1. Questionnaire

The introduction of the questionnaire explained what the questionnaire is about and specifically highlighted that the questionnaire targets people who live in Sweden and do not own an electric car. Participants were not paid, and the completion of the questionnaire was voluntary based and anonymous. Due to the use of different channels for the distribution, it was not possible to track how many people the questionnaire received by. The main purpose was to reach and receive as many completions as possible since there was no e-mail list received from the Agencies. In the end, the questionnaire was

responded by 119 people and the completion rate was 96% among the 119 respondents. The responses were carefully analyzed after the closure of the questionnaire and non-logical responses were eliminated which are also mentioned in the results section. The questions were asked in line with the purpose of the research and allowed me to understand consumer behavior, and how found key factors were perceived by the non-EV owners. In the end, this presented an overall view of how people in Sweden perceive electric vehicles and some of the key factors. The results of the questionnaire were used in semi-structured interviews to get in-depth knowledge on the topic. Although the questionnaire is a very useful preliminary tool and suitable for a special type of response, the reliability and validity of questionnaires are low and it lacks personal contact (Akash Choudhury, 2015). On the opposite, there is always a possibility to rephrase questions for further clarification in an interview. Questionnaires are very suitable to be used as a preliminary tool for conducting a depth study by another method. Therefore, this study relied on both in-depth interviews and the questionnaire that complete each other.

### 5.2. Collecting Data and Material - Semi-Structured Interviews

First, I did a research overview through different channels and documents, where I overviewed and identified relevant experts, such as I2 and I3 at a car company, Polestar (see Appendix 2). It was also proper and relatively easy to get in touch with these experts since I was an intern at the company. Accordingly, I contacted the interviewees to ask for a short meeting and then I explained briefly the thesis, the aim and asked for interviews. Besides, the last expert, I1, the interviewee was found after the phone communication with the Swedish Energy Agency for an e-mail list to send the questionnaire. However, it was not accepted by the Agency, rather, a person could do an interview. There was a phone communication with the Gothenburg Transport Office as well, but the result was negative in the end. Non-expert interviews, however, were chosen among people that I knew. There was no discussion prior to interviews about electric vehicles with the interviewees, therefore no influence, and I carefully selected the people I wanted to interview based on different features such as age, gender, education, and profession to enrich the study. Gender equality was considered, four females and four males were a part of the interviews in the end. Eight non-experts' people were contacted in the beginning, and all accepted to do an interview, however, three of them could not make it due to several reasons. Due to limitations from both sides, rescheduling could not happen. In the end, I decided to carry on with five non-experts and three expert interviews in this study. Then the interviews were held in English, both digitally and face to face, and all lasted between 30 - 90 minutes and the interview guide was followed (See Appendix 1). Covid19 restrictions and guidelines were also taken into consideration.

After the collection of the interview data, each interview was transcribed and then thematically coded. I presented quotes from interviewees under different themes discussed below. The interviewees coded as I1, I2, etc. which detailed version can be found in Appendix 2 as well as the interview guide in Appendix 1.

#### 5.2.1. Semi-structured Interviews

After collecting the questionnaire results, to explore the socio-technical factors surrounding electric vehicle mobility more comprehensively, I relied on data and material collected through semi-structured interviews. Semi-structured interviews are flexible interviews and do not follow a strict formalized question method which allows the interviewer to ask open-ended questions. Besides, due to the complexity of the research topic, the semi-structured interview method is thought to be in line with the research question, the theories, and the aim of the study. Also, semi-structured interviews allow the researchers to explore subjective viewpoints and to gather in-depth knowledge of people's experiences on a specific topic (SAGE, 2018).

Collecting data that are completed by interviews is one of the main instruments for collecting social data (Alan Bryman, 2012). I formulated a semi-structured interview method based on the theoretical approach of MLP and RCT. According to Yin (2003), the semi-structured form of interviewing is suitable when the objective of the research is to understand complex elements and their intersection with perceptions, beliefs, and values. Following this, the rational choice theory was implemented into the interview results and analyzed. Besides, the analysis was evaluated from the transitions and MLP perspective, and then the integrative approach of MLP and RCT was presented.

Expert interviews results are used as materials to complement the non-expert interviews to give a broader and critical understanding of the topic. It was important to include expert interviews due to the topics need for expert views. However, the expert interviews are separated from the non-expert interviews and are placed under the same categories in the results section since the topic & factor discussed were the same although the difference of opinions exists. Therefore, a comparison was made to understand the differences and similarities between the non-expert and expert interviews. Furthermore, in the analysis section, first, the non-experts' results were analyzed with the complementation of expert interviews. Then a comparison was finally made to get a broad understanding of the issue from a different perspective.

## 5.3. Ethical Considerations

In terms of ethical considerations, confidentiality and informed consent were well defined prior to interviews. Reliability and validity are described as trustworthiness, rigor, and quality in qualitative exemplar by Nahid Golafshani (2003), which being open and transparent helps to improve reliability and validity and resolve preconceptions. Considering that, each interviewee was asked to be recorded by stating that the participants' answers will be anonymous, and their names will not be shared in the thesis study. This gave a broad room for participants to talk and express their thoughts freely, without concerns. The interviewees were also provided with information on the thesis, the author's university and study, research aim. It was also clearly mentioned that the participants were not required to answer any questions if they do not want to answer so. By doing so, consent and information requirements were provided to the participants.

According to KELLEY, CLARK, BROWN, and SITZIA (2003), two important ethical issues to consider when conducting an online questionnaire are confidentiality and informed consent. The introduction was written in the distribution of the questionnaire as well as at the beginning of the questionnaire as stated above. The text was to make sure that everything about the questionnaire and the process is transparent explaining the thesis study, the aim, the author's university, and the program and also, clearly stated that participants participate anonymously in which their answers and selections will be a part of the thesis study anonymously.

Reliability is defined as the consistency of measurement or stability of measurement in a variety of conditions in which essentially the same results should be achieved in the study (Drost, 2011). In this study, reliability was increased since both interview and questionnaire questions were prepared considering the theories and previous literature. Besides, each interview was recorded and transcribed carefully. Also, each open-ended question of the questionnaire was carefully analyzed and answers that did not make sense were not considered. Also, both the questionnaire and interviews were in the English language meaning there were no translations needed. In conclusion, the reliability of this study considered increased due to the mentioned factors.

When researchers measure behaviors, they are concerned about whether they are measuring what they set out to measure. The meaningfulness of study components is concerned with validity. Validity refers to whether a measure of concept truly measures that concept (Alan Bryman, 2012). The validity of this research was addressed by ensuring that analyzed data, both from the interviews and the questionnaire, literature review, and theories were aligned with the research questions and the aim of the thesis study.

Finally, the credibility of this study was reflected from the 'triangulation' technique described as '*using* more than one method or source of data in the study' (Alan Bryman, 2012, p.392).

# 6. Results

This section presents the results. First, I present some of the questionnaire results and then interpret each figure. As mentioned, questionnaire results were thought to provide a general overview to the study. Therefore, only the most relevant questions of the questionnaire are presented. The rest is attached in the appendix. The open-ended questions were coded and combined under relevant themes in the questionnaire. Furthermore, interviews were conducted to provide a depth knowledge of the topic. The results were also coded and after coding the various responses and adding new codes whenever a new topic was discussed, the results combined into more general themes. Environment, driving range, financial incentives and cost, charging, and consumer knowledge were among the themes addressed. For example, a code related to purchasing cost of EV or financial support of the government gathered under financial incentives and cost theme and this was applied to the rest of the themes as well.

## 6.1. Questionnaire Results

Q1: What is the first word that comes to mind when you think of electric cars?

**Figure 5** indicates that almost 39% of participants correlate electric cars with the environment. This is followed by innovation and technology and Tesla by 20% and 15% respectively. Other least relevant word associations were charging, saving money, and future each represented by 5%. The other was also created to categorize word associations that did not fall under any categories, e.g., cool, good. In general, it is important to highlight that seeing the results of this question is significant since the first thought is key that gives an idea of what people correlate electric cars with.

Battery and Driving Range	5.26%	6
Charging	4.39%	5
Environment	38.60%	44
Expensive	6.14%	7
Future	4.39%	5
Innovation and Technology	20.18%	23
Other	7.02%	8
Saving Money	4.39%	5
Tesla	14.91%	17

Figure 5 Correlation of EVs with words
Q2: Can you tell me why would you adopt an electric car?

**Figure 6** portrays that environment is the biggest reason why participants would consider adopting an EV. It is an expected result which was also underlined in other questions. It is followed by financial benefits and technology & design. Financial benefits, especially, are quite interesting because the price was highlighted as the leading answer for the reason for not adopting an EV in Q3 shown in *Figure 7*. However, the environment is the leading answer here out and away for the main reason for adopting an EV. Short-range drive, however, was the least important reason for the participants to adopt an electric car. Lastly, 2 out of 3 responses under other is eliminated due to non-logical responses. The last response was "I would but a hybrid, not an EV".



Figure 6 Why would participants adopt EV?

Q3: Can you tell me why would not you adopt an electric car?

The biggest concern of the participants towards EV adoption is mainly due to the price tag of electric vehicles which represents 47% of total responses as shown in **Figure 7**. The purchase cost of EVs is often mentioned and touched upon previously in this study. From this perspective, it should not come as a surprise as it was selected almost by half of the respondents. Lack of infrastructure and environmental concern around electric vehicles were other following concerns of the participants. Especially environmental concern should be remarked separately here as it is seen both positive and negative factor on EV adoption as it was also stated in Q4 shown in *Table 1*. Although charging and infrastructure interact, the reason charging was coded separately from lack of infrastructure is due to the several responses of 'long charging and waiting time'. The least concern was reflected as 'not fun to drive'.

Environmental Concern		19.30%	22
Charging		7.89%	9
Do not need	-	7.02%	8
Expensive		47.37%	54
Not fun to drive		3.51%	4
Lack of Infrastructure		23.68%	27
Other		10.53%	12
Range Anxiety		14.04%	16
Uncertainty	-	8.77%	10

Figure 7 Negative Factors towards EV Adoption

Q4: How positive or negative is the impact of electric cars on the environment?

**Table 1** depicts that most of the participants correlate EVs' impacts on the environment as positive or very positive. However, 26% of participants did not have an opinion on how EVs impact the environment which was selected as neither positive nor negative. The rest of the participants expressed their opinions as negative and very negative for the EVs' impact on the environment. This is an interesting result to see as 1 out of 4 people have no clear idea whether electric vehicles are environmentally friendly or not. But also, it is still clear that the majority consider EVs' impact on the environment as positive.

ANSWER CHOICES				RESP	ONSES	
Very positive (1)				17.54	%	20
Positive (2)				47.37	%	54
Neither positive nor negative	9 (3)			26.32	%	30
Negative (4)				7.02%	5	8
Very negative (5)				1.75%	5	2
TOTAL						114
BASIC STATISTICS						
Minimum 1.00	Maximum 5.00	Median 2.00	Mear 2.28	n	Standard Deviation 0.89	

Table 1 EVs vs Environment

**Q5:** Finally, can you rank the following five topics based on their importance to you when thinking about electric cars?

The average of responses was highest in the charging stations infrastructure availability and lowest in innovation and technology which is shown in **Table 2.** The biggest factor to the participants was charging station availability where nearly 93% mentioned it as very important and important. This represents the highest mean value of 4.54 over 5. The environment was perceived as the second most important factor with a 4.27 mean value by the participants. The lowest mean value to the participants, however, was innovation and technology by 3.61/5. In general, the table reflects that all topics were received more than 50% of the total responses either as important or very important, and the lowest median value recorded as 4.00. An interesting observation is that when all the factors are given, respondents tend to choose charging stations availability and driving range over environmental concern based on their importance to them. The environment is, however, the leading answer in Q3 where participants mention the environment as the biggest reason for their EV adoption.

	NOT IMPORTANT AT ALL (1)	NOT IMPORTANT (2)	SOMEHOV IMPORTAN (3)	V IMPO NT (4)	RTANT	VERY IMPORTANT (5)	TOTAL	WEIGHTED AVERAGE
Financial incentives	2.65% 3	5.31% 6	20.35	23 4	40.71% 46	30.97% 35	113	3.92
Charging Stations Infrastructure Availability	1.75% 2	1.75% 2	3.51	% 2 4	27.19% 31	65.79% 75	114	4.54
Environmental Concern	0.88% 1	4.39% 5	14.91	.% 2 17	26.32% 30	53.51% 61	114	4.27
Innovation and Technology	8.04% 9	9.82% 11	21.43	% 3 24	34.82% 39	25.89% 29	112	3.61
Driving Range	0.88% 1	1.75% 2	9.65	% 3 11	33.33% 38	54.39% 62	114	4.39
BASIC STATIS	TICS							
		MINIMUM	MAXIMUM	MEDIAN	MEAN	STANDARD		
Financial incent	ives	1.00	5.00	4.00	3.92	0.98		
Charging Station Availability	ns Infrastructure	1.00	5.00	5.00	4.54	0.80		
Environmental (	Concern	1.00	5.00	5.00	4.27	0.93		
Innovation and	Technology	1.00	5.00	4.00	3.61	1.20		
Driving Range		1.00	5.00	5.00	4.39	0.80		

Table 2 EV Relevant Adoption Factors

# 6.2. Semi-structured Interview Results

## 6.2.1. Environmental Concern

## 6.2.1.1. Non-expert Interview results

The environment in terms of climate change, batteries, recycling, raw materials were highly stressed by the interviewees as all highlighted. When thinking about Sweden's sustainability ranking as 1<sup>st</sup> (Robeco, 2020) and environmental ranking as 8<sup>th</sup> in the world (Environmental Performance Index, 2020), this does not come as a surprise.

Realization of individual contribution and acting is a part of the climate action, without awareness, however, it is hard to expect huge changes within the society and the country. Usually, realization comes with actions but some factors and/or barriers might delay the action as it was underlined by **I5** focusing on the environment and his future electric car:

"Environment is important to me, and the current situation is worrying. Especially in the last couple of years, I tried to change my behaviors, reduce waste, and minimize my impact on the environment. This (EV purchase) is not my initial plan, but my car will be environmentally friendly one day in the future. I am not sure if electric cars are environmentally friendly right now, due to many issues of batteries, recycling, plastics they use? But I think they might be better than petrol cars in the future."

When the discussion took part whether EVs are climate-friendly vehicles or not, I6 responded:

"I believe electric vehicles are the way to go for future transportation, but the extraction of the metals used for the batteries of these vehicles are of concern from an environmental perspective."

Moreover, participants seemed eager on EV adoption even though they express their concerns around EV batteries. For example, the negative impact of EV batteries was mentioned again by **I8**:

"Yes, I believe EVs will be used a lot in the future even if it is concerning that the battery production for e-cars has a similar carbon footprint."

The same topic was highlighted by **I8** around the exploitation of the raw materials and underlined the importance of using western labor laws so that there will be a right (environment, labor, human) guarantee for people:

"Another reason for my hesitation about EVs is the exploitation of the raw materials in the developing nations and its people for the components in the battery. Since going electric is inevitable, my hope is that we can mine the raw materials in developed nations with western labor laws so no exploitation occurs since the electric car will mostly be bought in the west anyway."

**I7** also added on this by mentioning the environment and rather unfriendliness of EVs:

"If they are affordable and more environmentally than 'traditional vehicles', I think they could be the future. I believe there is an issue with production and disposal of batteries which makes them rather unfriendly."

However, the environmental impact of EVs was not the first concern of some interviewees as I5 stressed:

"I believe either an electric car or any other form of cars that do not harm the environment will most likely be the future, at least in developed nations like Sweden. But I do not trust electric vehicles yet, and I do not think that they are environment-friendly currently. And if I can be honest, the environment is not the first thing I think of if I want a car. Maybe in the future, yes. But not now."

## When asked why I5 answered:

"I feel bad to say this, but I do not think my car purchase is going to solve everything in terms of the environment. There are some countries and huge companies that emit tons of thousands of CO2. In a way, they should be targeted first. But I would like to experience traditional cars before they are all gone. I like to hear the engine sound."

**I4**, however, brings a new perspective to the topic by talking about public transport how relevant transport is in terms of the relationship between the environment and future transport mobility:

"I also think that public transport is becoming more popular day by day and it is slowly spreading out to even small cities, rural areas which had no public transportation before. If more people use public transport and all the transport options are electric or sustainable somehow in general, which what they are trying to achieve in Gothenburg, this can be great for the environment."

Another point of EV usage period and batteries is discussed by some interviewees. The environmental impact of batteries seems unknown and unclear to some participants. Here how it was perceived by **I8**:

"Use of EVs should also be long... Many people I know like to change cars every 3-4 years. This is not sustainable. And what is going to happen to the batteries? I hope they are being recycled already. I do not know. There are too many loose ends, or I did not read enough. If they cannot recycle the batteries, it is not worth buying an EV to help the environment. I need to know."

#### 6.2.1.2. Expert Interview Results

Although negative aspects of EVs in terms of environment was stressed by the experts, in general, the environment was mentioned as an action need by the experts, and electric vehicles were associated with it as **I1** mentioned:

"I do not know why people do not take it (environment) seriously. I know that not every part of the world is the same as Sweden, but perhaps we can do something and lead the way to the others. This is why the electrification of cars is very important. We need to start thinking about the environment seriously."

Likewise, **I2** also focused on this in the very early part of the interview connecting it to the automotive industry's stance:

"As you probably know, electric vehicles were invented many years ago. The reason they are coming back as a rescuer is because of the climate change. We know that EVs are not perfect right now, but they have a great potential to be. We, as a company, promote transparency and invite others (car companies) to do the same. They are advertising as EVs are completely environment friendly, but they are not. According to our surveys, the environment is the strongest reason people purchase our cars. But if they learn later that EVs are not as described as they thought, they might be disappointed, and it might backfire which is very dangerous."

I3 added value to the discussion of the environment by giving an example of customer surveys:

"The environment comes first when I think about factors. We send a survey to our customers after their cars are delivered to understand the reasons for their purchase and whether the whole period went smooth or not. Also, we regularly conduct and collect surveys about different topics. The response rate is usually quite high and one of the most important topics for consumers to buy an EV is the environment."

The same topic was also discussed by **I2** from the car company's perspective:

"As I said before, we would like to be 100% transparent of our supply chain and that is why we use blockchain to increase transparency. With blockchain technology, all sources of materials are traceable within the OECD's supply chain guidelines. We are committed to reaching climate neutrality in our cars in 9 years by 2030 and therefore I can say that yes, EVs are the future travel vehicles at least for the near term. There will be other types of vehicles such as hydrogen-fueled but for the near future, I see EVs as our biggest focus." **I1**, however, focused on environment topic from the Swedish Energy Agency and talked over a consultant paper that the Agency ordered:

"Three or four years ago, we ordered a consultant study. They looked at batteries and how much emission they have and where the production & emission come from. According to the results, all EV brands knew the problem, and this was an important result of the study. You could see that it is not only the factory where they (EVs) are produced but also materials. Magnesium, copper, lithium, and so on."

I1 expressed his opinions about the production phase and use phase of EVs:

"It is very complicated. You have the problems, but not so much from the vehicles, but you have emissions still where it is produced. And what is the battery life? Is battery recycling 100% sustainable? It is complicated to compare. It might be a problem to push people to buy EVs. I think we need to ask these questions first."

## 6.2.1.3. Summary & Comparison

Noteworthy, the environment was a hot topic for almost every interviewee except I5. Many explained their views on the unclearness around EVs and their impacts on the environment. However, even though all existed uncertainty among EVs, batteries, materials, recycling, and environment relation as shown in **Figure 8**, it can still be seen that EV adoption is seen as a positive move towards contributing to fights against climate change. Besides providing an expert view on the topic, the main difference between expert and non-expert interviews on the environment is non-expert participants mostly highlighted uncertainty around the EVs and highlighted that EVs are not trustable yet from an environmental point of view.



Figure 8 Environmental Concern

## 6.2.2. Range Anxiety

#### 6.2.2.1 Non-Expert Interview Results

The range was a highly discussed factor of EV adoption among the interviewees. Winter, time, long trips and distance were among the discussed topics under the range theme. All interviewees expressed their concerns and thoughts around the range of vehicles. This can be a fact that Sweden is a large country, in fact, the largest country in Northern Europe and third largest in Europe (Sweden, 2015), which makes people worry about traveling even inside of the country. As it was emphasized by **I5**, range, uncertainty and time seemed an issue:

"Range of EVs is a problem for me to be honest. I cannot wait for an hour to charge my car every 300-400 km. It is time-consuming right now. And you do not even know if there will be fast chargers wherever you go. I am sure it will change in the future, but uncertainty gives me anxiety in a way. I do not even think the same with petrol, diesel cars for instance. If we come to this point that I do not even think about the range of the car, then yes, I might buy it then."

As EVs are not the first technology people have, it is very natural to compare EVs with other types of vehicles people know, own, and use. As **I6** compared EVs with other types of vehicles:

"For example, I have a diesel car right not and I am currently not planning to buy an electric car. I know that the range is still fairly low compared to diesel or petrol cars, but I expect this to change soon."

However, Sweden's surface area seems like a huge factor for some as I4 mentioned:

"If we want to go skiing up, North, for example, we would not take the electric car for transport. There are other options, you can borrow a car from a friend, or you can rent a car perhaps. But it would be very hard to go up North with an electric car."

Traveling long distances was also mentioned by I7 both focusing on charging and range:

"We go to Åre almost every year with a car, and it is a very long drive. In the last years, I started to see people are queuing to charge their electric cars on the way and it is a very long queue. It is a long drive, yes, but I do not want to spend my time on charge or waiting to charge my car. Even though it is bad for the environment, it is a lot easier and to fuel our car and we are on the road again in max 5 minutes."

However, talking about range, **I4** and **I8** brought a new perspective that does not apply to the general population. **I4** stated:

"When we had test drives for some EVs, we talked about the range because we often drive to work on our beehive (with 18). It is about 6 hours away from Gothenburg. It is kind of okay. We are retired people, so we do not need to rush for something. It does not matter for us to stop one or two times to charge."

**I8** agreed with **I4** but also emphasized the need for a long-range:

"Yes, I agree for us, it is not an issue. But I think for many people this is annoying and losing time. Technology needs to support a long-range."

Next, it was common to mention different conditions and the range. For example, **I6** noted that range is usually a lot lower than what companies state:

"We do not have very cold winters in Stockholm, Malmö, and Gothenburg as Northern parts of Sweden have. But still, even in few days under minus in these big cities, the supposed range of an EV goes down from, let's say, 500km to 300km. This also depends on if you use different features of the car obviously but still a huge factor to consider."

I5 also mentioned a possible cold weather and range relationship:

"What will happen when it is too cold? Is the range the same as in normal weather conditions? I do not think so."

## 6.2.2.2 Expert Interview Results

However, not everyone mentioned the range as a huge problem of today. It was viewed by **I1** as yesterday's problem and highlighted suggestions:

"I think the range is about you would like to go somewhere and you want to achieve there without the fear. The range has been a problem but not much today. But it is still for very long trips. You probably drive 10 times a long drive in a year so you can rent another car for instance. I do not think it is a huge issue today."

From a car company perspective, **I3** stated that most of the people who bought the cars were people who live in urban areas and range is more than enough for many people:

"We know that range anxiety is very real for many. People are concerned about the range of EVs. Mainly, people living in urban areas are more prone to buy an EV. They usually only drive to work and from work to home which the range is more than enough. Today's EV range is more than enough for many people to be able to handle their daily commuting. I believe knowledge awareness around the range is needed and this is what we are trying to do."

Another perspective was mentioned by **I2** from the sustainability perspective as:

"We, as a company, are aware that range is a huge topic for many. But we cannot produce a much bigger battery right now to increase range due to many factors such as sustainability, supply chain and production and the model of the vehicle, etc. There are too many factors to consider. This is the best, only for now. It will improve soon."

## 6.2.2.3. Summary & Comparison

The range was perceived as an important factor by most of the interviewees. Possible winter conditions and battery, charging time, long trips, and distance were the most stated sub-topics under the range theme as **Figure 9** shows below. On the other hand, expert views on the range were not the same as non-expert interviewees as they saw the range as an issue of the past, but not now. Besides, when the discussion was around daily driving, most of the interviewees mentioned that their daily driving is less than 40km. However, the importance of constant improvement of the range was clearly stated by highlighting that it will be better in the future.



Figure 9 Range Anxiety

## 6.2.3. Charging Infrastructure

## 6.2.3.1. Non-expert Interview Results

Lack of charging infrastructure, lack of visibility, charging time, and lack of universal charging was the most discussed topics among the interviewees under this theme. It is seen as a barrier for everyone from different perspectives. The discussed topics under the range related to long-distance distance traveling in Sweden were also connected to the charging of EVs. Moreover, the lack of charging infrastructure received quite high attention from the interviewees. The general view on charging infrastructure is that it is not commonly available. This seemed especially more of a barrier for those who live in the apartment building as **I8** stated:

"We are seriously thinking to buy an electric car. We even had test drives of different models. But the problem is we do not have a charging point in the neighborhood. There is a place where you can rent to charge your car, but it does not make sense to pay for the place plus for charging."

**I4** interrupted here and added:

"We are buying the car both for the environment and to save money. We will get a discount if we buy a Volkswagen and in the long term, we thought it will be cheaper. But if we pay more just to charge the car and if the charging will be a problem all the time, I do not have that energy right now."

Despite many viewed the charging infrastructure as their absence, **I7**, however, brought up a lack of visibility of charging vehicles around the city. While a simple solution might be building more charging vehicles, awareness of charging infrastructure is another topic that should be addressed:

"I'm not sure if I can describe this but let me try. When I see a petrol station, I am aware that it is a petrol station. But this is not the same for EV charging stations. I rarely realize their existence around my neighborhood or in the city. Now when you ask, I am thinking where would I go if I need one? I do not know. But I know for sure a petrol station even though I do not go to that petrol station with a car. It is strange but I think it needs visibility so that they could get inside of our mind."

Charging time, however, was mentioned by many of the interviewees. **I6**, for instance, characterized charging time as the most important fact:

"Time is very important. You do not want to waste it. Not sure exactly how long it takes to charge an EV but if I remember correctly, it is about 13, 14 hours with slow charging. And I think the fastest one is around 40-45 minutes. I mean who has this time frame to wait just to be able to use a car?"

This topic was also mentioned by I5 by stating the importance of time management:

"I think the technology of charging should be improved as people do not have enough time in their daily lives. I would not want to wait for an hour to charge my car. I know some car brands like Tesla improved their technology inside the car so that you can watch videos, movies but still why should I spend my time like this? Charging time should be same or at least close to petrol cars".

## 6.2.3.2. Expert Interview Results

Another important point was the lack of universal charging infrastructure as only mentioned by experts. For instance, **I2** stated:

"This is a problem we need to challenge soon. For instance, you cannot use Tesla's charging infrastructure for your Polestar. We have different partnerships, cooperation with various companies, agencies, etc. But Tesla is different, and their charging infrastructure is very developed in Europe. This is a concern for many of our consumers. There should be one type of infrastructure that each EV brand's model can use. This is very important in the early stage of EVs but unfortunately, does not reflect the reality."

**I3** continued the topic further by mentioning the customer surveys:

"As you might know, there are different charging types you can use such as AC, DC and then they are divided into other types such as Type 1, Type 2 and so on. This, obviously, confuses people. Our customer support center receives daily questions about the charging of their vehicles. There should be regulations around this."

**I1**, however, was more positive about the charging infrastructure even though stating that more needs to be built:

"In the last couple of years, the infrastructure has grown immensely. I do not think it is a problem today, for heavy vehicles and so on, maybe. But not for personal vehicles"

When asked about the source of charging stations, and apartment charging structure, **I1** was rather sparing:

"Imm... I am not sure about the apartments. It could be a problem, yes. In cities, however, it is still okay today but not outside of cities. Car-sharing can be a solution. Then you can have a charging station in another person's location. Also in Sweden, we are quite good at charging, it almost 100% sustainable. I think this is a problem in other countries in Europe". I2, on the other hand, focused on the mental part of charging infrastructure issue:

"I see the battery charging as connected with range anxiety. Range anxiety is very real even though I think it should not be. People do not drive as they think they will do. This is a mental issue rather than a real one. But it does not matter, if it is there, we need to work on solutions."

I2 continued focusing on the source of the energy:

"But these solutions, they should be built around sustainability. The source of the electricity must be sustainable as well. In Sweden, however, we are pretty in good shape for this, but I can't say the same for many other countries"

#### 6.2.3.3. Summary & Comparison

As a result, charging infrastructure is often perceived as a negative factor on the adoption, however, this might be a result of inexperienced ownership with EVs according to experts. Many interviewees stated their concerns while some were not completely on the same page as others. But in general, it was acknowledged that this is an existed issue that needs to be addressed. Experts, on the other hand, perceived this issue is not as problematic as non-expert respondents perceived. But they raised other important matters such as one fits all type of charging and regulations need around this in Europe. In conclusion, lack of charging points, charging time, absence of universal charging, and visibility were the most discussed topics undercharging as **Figure 10** shows.



Figure 10 Charging Infrastructure

## 6.2.4. Financial Incentives & Cost

#### 6.2.4.1. Non-expert Interview Results

As it was mentioned before, electric vehicles are seen as premium today due to their price range. This was discussed by most of the interviewees and is usually referred to as an important barrier. For instance, as **I4** and **I8** were already thinking to buy an EV, and they shared their experiences with test drives. The price of electric cars was a big factor as they highlighted several times. They stated that they tried a few different EVs already, but the price range was too high even with incentives as **I8** stated:

"We tried three different electric cars. Last week we tried Tesla. Insane car, so beautiful, but too expensive. We can't afford it, even with the incentives. We are considering Volkswagen iD3 because first, we get government incentives. Then we get a discount from a magazine we have been members of for years. When you combine these two, it can be affordable."

I4, however, was more critical towards the incentives:

"Yes, incentives definitely help but is it enough? Our neighbor, Norway has the highest electric car share in the world now. It is because the government is supporting and helping financially with huge incentives. Without enough support, it is hard to convince people. There are many lacking already. If they (Norway) can do it, why can't we?"

Comparison of Sweden with Norway was also mentioned by I5:

"As a student, there is no way that I can afford an electric car. I am a car enthusiast you know. I look at cars and prices all the time. EVs are way more expensive. I started to see more EVs on the road in Sweden which is good. But there is also Norway as an example. I read it on news. They managed to sell more than half of total cars as EVs. I think it was in December. I do not see any big reason except financial support. Cars are expensive, if you reduce their price, more people will buy. This is simple."

After a conversation around public transport and not needing a car, when asked "when would you consider if you ever", **I7** stated:

"If the price goes down. I looked at Tesla's price, just for curiosity. You need a fortune to be able to buy one. But it is a very good-looking car and environmentally friendly. I would like to have one day, not necessarily Tesla, but only if the price goes down significantly."

#### 6.2.4.2. Expert Interview Results

Even though the topic was discussed by experts as well, the cost of an EV was not viewed as a barrier by **I3** stated due to the company's stance as a brand:

"We are a premium brand, so our target is a specific part of the society. Therefore, I cannot say that the purchase cost is an issue for our customers."

This was maintained by **I2** focusing on the importance of support & financial incentives from the government:

"By 2030 we expect to have half emissions on transport than we have today and one conditionality for this is the maintainability of the support from the government. You can get 70000 SEK back from the government when you purchase an EV, and this is an important driving force on EV adoption."

I1, however, emphasized the importance of cost as the biggest problem in Sweden:

"I think the cost is the biggest problem for people in Sweden today. The EV market is growing but it is open to discussion if it is enough? I have quite many friends who have EVs today. But the cost is a problem for many people even with incentives."

Another price tag discussion and comparison of Sweden not only with Norway but other European countries highlighted by **I1**:

"It is costly to purchase electric cars, but not in Norway for instance. We have also a high incentive in Sweden. In Norway, it is higher, but it is quite good in Sweden when you compare it with other European countries. Also, if you compare with other European countries, Sweden is second or third in sales and I think it is because of incentives".

## 6.2.4.3. Summary & Comparison

In the end, price, support from the government, cost, Norway comparison was most discussed topics under financial incentives and cost theme as **Figure 11** shows below. Incentives by the Swedish authorities were viewed as good but not enough. This is perhaps also a fact that Sweden's neighbor, Norway, is leading the way on EV adoption. It is reasonable for participants to look at the closest example and compare the country they live in. Interestingly, this section was not a heated discussion as environment, for instance. Most of the non-expert interviewees' stance was clear on incentives: a must need and currently but not enough as well especially compared with the neighboring country, Norway.

On the other hand, expert views on this are EV incentives drive the sales up and the government support on this is good when comparing other countries in Europe rather than Norway.



Figure 11 Financial Incentives and Cost

## 6.2.5. Consumer Knowledge

### 6.2.5.1. Non-expert Interview Results

As electric cars have started to become popular more recently, many people might not have enough knowledge about vehicles, batteries, charging, or any other relevant feature. In this theme, consumer knowledge was emphasized by 6 out of 8 interviewees and centered around the lack of knowledge, awareness, and experience, and visibility. Even though the below quote was part of the discussion under the charging infrastructure theme, it is still very relevant what **I7** mentioned when talking about charging infrastructure and their lack of visibility:

"It is strange, but I think it (charging infrastructure) needs visibility so that they could get inside our mind."

When discussing the government policies and why EVs are not so popular yet, I4 stated:

"The biggest issue we have is a mental barrier in Sweden"

#### **I8** continued:

"I agree. Back in the days, when I was teaching, the first thing I would do is to make children like the topic. Once they are engaged, it is easy. The government needs to promote somehow. Incentives and so on, yes, good but not enough. Educating people is always the key"

#### Moreover, I6 focused on the environmental aspect and lack of knowledge around the impacts of EVs:

"They (car companies) promote the EVs as they are perfect for the environment. Once you dig deep, you see that they are not, and many people do not even know about all these impacts."

#### **I6** continued:

"There is a need for better understanding around electric vehicles, not their technicalities, but simple features like how (quick) charging functions, where to find charging points, the environmental impact of the car, how does the range work – it is not same in each condition, but people tend to consider the first range knowledge they see/get from a car company -, how much the total car of ownership will be and how much an individual can save up in the long term, etc. These things need a little push."

Moreover, **I4** shared opinions on other countries and the problems in those countries due to the supply chain of batteries. The discussion around the poor conditions in some countries, transparency need, environment, and EVs:

"I feel like all the discussion today is around the climate change and environment, that is why we need to buy electric cars. But then we rarely read in the newspaper about the child laborers in Congo, low salaries, poor health conditions of those people. The environment is for sure one of the biggest reasons for us, perhaps the biggest, to buy an electric car. But the other part is worrying. When we talk with our neighbors and friends, they do not know these issues. They are surprised. More transparency and education, that is how it should be. I do not know how exactly, but it should be"

**I8** continued and agreed on I4 by stating:

"Absolutely, I agree. We should not break something in other countries while trying to fix it in West"

#### 6.2.5.2. Expert Interview Results

**I3**, however, approached this topic from the customer's angle. Talking about the current customer portfolio of the company, **I3** stated:

"Based on our customer data, I can say that most of our customers are represented by +55 years old white males. This can be due to many factors. But as you see, something is missing here."

12 viewed the discussion from daily driving and lack of knowledge around EVs:

"People drive more or less 50 km in a day today in Europe, not only in Sweden. Any electric car from 2010 onwards can provide daily life transportation needs. Yet, lack of knowledge around EVs creates terms as range anxiety. Many people do not even know that they can charge at home for instance. This is a mental barrier and an education problem."

I1, however, highlighted the issue from lack of research on consumer knowledge around EVs.

"The electric vehicles on the street are increasing. But there is a clear lack of knowledge around these vehicles, charging, etc. Lots of incorrect or lacking knowledge around them. I think what we need is educating people for EVs and we need more research".

#### 6.2.5.3. Summary & Comparison

The discussion of consumer knowledge was around awareness, lack of knowledge, experience, visibility as shown in **Figure 12.** Both expert and non-expert interviewees highlighted the lack of consumer knowledge and underlined the need for education, awareness, and visibility around electric vehicles. The main difference between expert and non-expert results is that non-expert participants see this issue from consumers' perspectives which is why they were motivated to talk broadly and explain their thoughts. However, non-expert participants knew the problem and they briefly mentioned that this exists and is an issue. As the EV market and adoption are quite new in countries, early education might be the key for people to consider EV adoption seriously.



Figure 12 Consumer Knowledge

## 6.2.6. Other Factors

#### 6.2.6.1. Non-expert Interview Results

There are some other factors such as electric overload, winter weather, reliability and dependency, batteries, time management was mentioned by interviewees which were not shared by the majority. Due to their importance, they will be shared under this section briefly.

Winter weather and battery reliability were highlighted by I7:

"I am worried about batteries in minus degrees we have in winter. Are they safe? Since we often hear battery explosions from batteries, this worries me a lot."

As most EVs seem premium today, people pay the premium price. Outside of the EV environment, when a car is expensive, it is usually acknowledged as a sport, noisy car. This was viewed by **I5** also touching upon EVs reliability:

"One thing I might miss compared to a fossil-fuel-powered car is the sound and feel driving off. The electric car is not that exciting to drive apart from good acceleration. I like to hear the sound of the engine and have a manual gearbox, also because I am not sure about their reliability."

Dependency, reliability, and uncertainty around EVs were also mentioned by I6:

"The technology is not fully there. It is over over-reliant on software and has forced obsolescence built into them. There is a dependency."

Even though battery concerns were a part of the discussion under the environment theme, another perspective was raised about batteries by **I7**:

"What is the battery life especially in cold countries like Sweden? How long will it last? How can it be replaced? Also, ethical aspects of where the materials in the battery come from? I am not sure whether the answers are already there. Maybe I need more research."

Lastly, time management and planning were also emphasized as a concern by I5:

"Needing to plan and incorporate charging on long travels. It is also more time-consuming than stopping to fill up with petrol."

#### 6.2.6.2. Expert Interview Results

Only one expert mentioned another factor that is important to consider when it comes to electric vehicles and charging. Electric overload when charging the electric cars overnight was stressed from an expert point of view by **I1**:

"Perhaps this is not today's problem but when many more people have electric cars, they will charge them at night in their home. This will create overloading on the electricity system which might cause distribution issues. This should be thought in advance before we have large numbers."

#### 6.2.6.3. Summary & Comparison

All different factors shown in **Figure 13** were highlighted by some of the interviewees even though they did not hold the majority as it happened in other themes. It is noteworthy to mention that mostly non-expert interviewees expressed their concerns around 'other' factors rather than expert interviewees. Only one expert interviewee, I1, expressed his thoughts on electric overload. Finally, due to other factors' importance for this study, I decided to include them which are also analyzed under the analysis section.



Figure 13 Other Factors

# 7. Analysis

In this section, the analysis combines the results, theories, and previous research. I, first, present the analysis of the results which answer the main research question. Then, I present the integrated theory implementation intertwined with the results that provides an answer to the second research question. By doing so, the thesis provides an answer to the aim of this study, the key factors on consumers' willingness to adopt EVs as well as the question of how consumer factor can be perceived in the transition from ICEVs to EVs.

## 7.1. Key Factors on EV Adoption

The first research question is: "What are the key factors that influence people's willingness to adopt EVs in Sweden". The research question allows understanding the surrounding important influencing factors around EVs which the results are used to answer the research question. Some of the factors discussed here go back to the literature but placing them in a country context validates and makes it possible to understand the consumer adoption behavior around the topic of EV adoption from a member state level as well as to measure their importance and validity.

## **Financial Incentives & Cost**

To begin with, the results highlight that financial incentives and purchase cost carry huge importance on EV adoption, and it was highly emphasized by most of the interviewees as well as the respondents of the questionnaire. For instance, in the question (Q3) of why you would not adopt an EV, the coded answer 'expensive' was the most mentioned answer by almost half of the respondents in the questionnaire. Since most of the electric car prices are higher than petrol or diesel vehicles, not every individual can afford an EV. Many participants of this study mentioned the cost of the vehicles and hence, the importance of financial incentives. While some of the participants, for example, I7, mentioned that if the price goes down then they would consider an EV, others such as I6 and I4 underlined that Norway's EV adoption rate is too high and the reason behind was financial incentives. Also, current financial incentives are not seen enough for large EV adoption which was also argued by Norway and Sweden comparison. Besides Aasness & Odeck (2015) found out in their study that multiple financial incentives caused the enormous increase in EV adoption in Norway. Increasing financial incentives and making them visible to people is likely to increase EVs on the road. For example, during the interviews, at some moments I needed to mention the incentives from the government of Sweden stating that incentives from the government exist. This also underlines another side which is the visibility and awareness of these incentives. In conclusion, financial incentives are

found to be not currently enough, and visible as well as found to be an important key factor on EV adoption alongside with the purchase cost.

#### Environment

As the main reason for this transition from ICEVs to EVs is happening due to climate change and the environmental impact of fossil fuel vehicles, it did not come as a surprise the environment was an important factor to consider. However, the environment is reflected both from positive and negative attitudes towards electric vehicles according to both interview and questionnaire results as well as neither positive nor negative only in the questionnaire. From the negative perspective, many participants raised their concerns about electric vehicles and their negative impacts due to mainly battery production and raw materials. It is, however, important to mention that although negative environmental concerns were raised towards electric vehicles both in the questionnaire and interviews, the environment is still seen as one of the most important factors that influence people positively towards EV adoption. For example, analysis of several studies by Rezvani et al. (2015) show that environment was one of the most important influencing factors on EV adoption. However, the environmental concern comes after driving range and charging infrastructure according to the questionnaire results which is quite interesting to analyze. It appears that participants tend to secure their 'comfort zones', e.g., vehicles' range and charging, before the environmental concern. Besides, this might be the result of uncertainty around the environmental impacts of electric vehicles on consumers. In the questionnaire, the results of Q4 clearly show that over 26% of respondents have neither a positive nor negative idea of how electric vehicles impact the environment. Furthermore, the discussed topics of interviews under the environment were batteries, recycling, raw materials, and climate. Although a will to adopt EVs was often highlighted, it was also followed by a 'but' or 'if' as 18 stated, "EVs will be used a lot in the future even if it is concerning due to...". In conclusion, environmental concern was found to be both positive and negative influencing factors towards the EV adoption as well as uncertainty around the impact of EVs on the environment was found.

#### **Charging Infrastructure & Range Anxiety**

This study found out that charging infrastructure and range anxiety are key influencing factors on EV adoption. Universal charging, visibility, lack of charging, and charging time were highly underlined by the interviewees and charging infrastructure availability was the most important to the respondents of the questionnaire as it was shown in *Table 2*. The lack of charging infrastructure was also taken second place after the expensiveness of the vehicles in the Q3 of 'why you would not you adopt an EV' in the questionnaire. Besides, the range anxiety is very much related to the charging infrastructure. These two factors were the most important factors selected by the participants in the same question in

the questionnaire. Also, almost 40% of the respondents chose lack of infrastructure and range as negative factors towards EV adoption as presented in *Figure 7*. Long-distance trips, winter, distance, and charging time have an impact on range. Furthermore, even though the long-distance trips happen only a few times a year, not being able to complete all the travels stays as a worrying situation for the participants. When combining range anxiety with lack of charging infrastructure, these two factors have the most influence on the participants. In terms of range, a study conducted in Sweden by Haustein and Jensen (2018) also shows that range anxiety alongside charging infrastructure is perceived as a functional barrier. In conclusion, lack of charging infrastructure and range anxiety are found to be the most important two key factors on EV adoption.

#### **Consumer Knowledge**

Consumer knowledge and awareness is found to be a key influencing factor. For instance, the whole lacking numbers on EV adoption is connected to consumer knowledge and described as a "mental barrier" by I4. The lack of consumer knowledge and education around EVs are also connected to other found key factors. Lack of education around EVs was brought up by I6, for instance, and raised questions such as how to find charging stations, how does the range work, environmental impact of the car. Range and charging are highlighted by I2 stating that people drive less than 50km a day in their daily lives, however, still worry about the range of the vehicles and many people do not know that they can charge at home and referred these due to lack of knowledge education. This is a very significant finding that affects other key factors as well. For instance, according to Long, Axsen, and Kormos (2019), consumers continue to be confused about electric vehicles, and EV adoption stays limited although policy support and technological progress is increasing. They emphasize consumer awareness as a barrier and present a survey from two different years, 2013 and 2017, which the only difference was a higher proportion of people have heard of key electric vehicle models in 2017. In conclusion, while technology and innovation are not found to be a factor, consumer knowledge is found a key influencing factor on EV adoption.

#### **Other Factors**

There are more factors found according to the results although they do not represent most of the participants' results. However, due to their importance, they are included and analyzed in this study. Uncertainty around EVs seems to be an important other factor. As it was raised by I7, there are

questions to be answered that lead to uncertainty around EVs. Also, as electric vehicles are quite new on the market, it might come as normal to people not to trust the vehicles yet. This was perceived as the reliability of vehicles due to the new technology. Weather conditions and battery safety were part of the conversations. Also, technological change of vehicles from engines to battery-charged EVs will require a new behavior in people's lives. For instance, this was reflected by I5 comparing focusing on time management and planning in advance to go on long trips. This is a valid concern and reality today when considering the lack of charging infrastructure and charging time need, EV owners need to plan trips in advance. Lastly, electric overload was highlighted by an expert, I1, considering people will charge EVs at night in their homes. However, this does not reflect today's conditions but the future considering the current EV registrations and market share as also was highlighted by the interviewee, hence, not included as a factor. In conclusion, these factors are included in this study as sub influencing factors.

In a summary, the results found in this study are reliable and comply with previous research. Surprisingly, even Sweden, one of the most sustainable and environmentally friendly countries in the world, faces several challenges in terms of EV adoption. In this study, several factors are found to be important for EV adoption in Sweden. Environmental concern, cost, financial incentives, charging, range, consumer knowledge are the factors that were found to be the most important factors according to the results. There are also, however, sub-factors found and discussed under other factors such as the battery, weather conditions, uncertainty, reliability, and behavioral change. Some factors that were already mentioned in the theories and literature review were found to be relevant to the participants of the study such as environment, charging, battery, range, cost, and financial incentives. However, innovation and technology were found to be not important factors in the interview results and least important in the questionnaire, therefore not included. On the other hand, consumer knowledge is found to be a key influencing factor that was highlighted by most of the interviewees.

# 7.2. Integrated MLP and RCT Approach

The second research question of the study is: "How can the consumer factor in socio-technical transitions such as from ICEVs to EVs be perceived?" and answered in this section. This study perceives the change in the automotive industry from ICEVs to EVs as a socio-technical transition. I argue that a socio-technical transition needs to be completed in order to achieve a complete large-scale EV adoption and consumer perception plays an important role in it. In this thesis, the broader context of EV adoption was perceived by the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs and addressed within the MLP framework. However, this socio-technical transition comes with social challenges which consumers play a significant part in it. The narrower context of EV adoption, therefore, was perceived from a rational decision-making process of consumers and addressed with the RCT. Within this change, there are some contexts of rational choices that affect consumer's decision-making. These factors which influence consumers' rational choices have important roles in the MLP. Rational choices of consumers take place in the context of a change in the larger technological system.

In existing regimes in MLP, the process of lock-in and route dependence often leads to an innovation gradually. Change is often accomplished but in reasonable ways, which leads to a stable path. Consumer lifestyle is a great example of lock-in mechanisms. There are three processes within niches shortly as the learning process, the articulation of expectations or visions, and the building of a social network (Geels, 2012). Besides, niches gain momentum and become definite and accepted if social networks become bigger. The key point here is making sure that niches gain momentum and accepted. This is where consumers' adoption behavior study carries importance to investigate where RCT implementation through influencing factors on EV adoption can help niches to grow and get accepted.

Rational choice theory is utilized to explain pro-environmental behavior with the categories of selfinterest motivations which the RCT views beliefs as motives for pro-environmental behavior (Rezvani et al., 2015). Adopting an electric vehicle is a pro-environmental behavior where self-interest motivations, knowledge, and motives lead individuals to EV adoption. The theory of rational choice ensures that human behavior is based upon benefits and utility maximization (Rezvani et al., 2015) and in the end, individuals rely on rational calculations to make rational choices expecting the maximized outcome.

Radical low-carbon niche innovations are included in the MLP that provides an understanding of low carbon transitions (Geels et al., 2017). In MLP under regimes, innovation perceived as a gradual process, and change tends to occur in a stable path. Socio-technical frameworks require infrastructure alignment as stressed under the regimes by MLP (Geels, 2002) which, for instance, lack of

infrastructure importance was also found to be a constraint by RCT. Also, changes at the landscape level such as a collection of deep structural patterns and social values, e.g., environmental concern, destabilize the regime and open doors for niche innovation to extend, become a part or even reposition the current regime. The development of a sustainable charging infrastructure was found to be the key enablers for the low carbon transitions by Bolton and Foxon (2015). Also, according to some contemporary RCT theorists, lowering the price provides a possible explanation for sales increase where Judge Posner highlights "Buyers do not choose randomly. Rationality is the only reasonable explanation for their reactions to changes in relative prices." (Jacoby, 2013, p. 88). According to Wittek (2013)'s description of full rationality, individuals are fully informed on all alternatives to decisions, probabilities of results, and consequences, and the perception and processing of this information do not have any cognitive limitations. The study predicts that understanding the influencing factors could provide a path to full rationality. Having the knowledge, e.g., consumer knowledge, around products help consumers' decision and might direct consumers to the special product. At RCT's core, individuals choose their best option within the scope they are in. Awareness and knowledge increase result to maximization of the utility. In STT, one process within the niches is the learning process as stressed by Geels (2012), which increased knowledge and awareness help niches to gain momentum speed up the transition to be completed.

Under MLP's regimes, for instance, consumer lifestyle plays an important role where EV adoption is significantly relevant to changing the lifestyle. Besides, as mentioned in the landscape, huge important events or individual decisions influence the socio-technical transition where consumers' rational choices are affected either directly or indirectly. Therefore, to be able to make the transition successful, societal perspectives should be taken into consideration. One way of doing this is finding the influencing factors on consumers and use to maximize rational choices which are the influencing factors in the socio-technical transitions as two theory integration highlights. Integration of multi-level perspective and rational choice theory is given this study a unique, integrated approach to perceive consumer factor within the STT. Gradual changes and innovation acceptance is dependent on consumers' acceptance level of the innovation where maximizing the rational choice plays a key role within the STT. In the end, finding the key factors that influence people's willingness to adopt EVs helps to understand the rational choice of consumers that reflects the societal part in the MLP and offers a path to complete the transition from ICEVs to EVs.

Firstly, I argue that the socio-technical transition needs to be completed in order to achieve a complete large-scale EV adoption and consumer perception plays an important role in it. Secondly, rational choices of consumers are affected by the influencing factors, i.e., the results of the study, and they take place in the context of a change in the broader MLP system. Lastly, the found influencing factors are not simply factors that influence consumer willingness on EV adoption in the narrow context, but they also play a bigger role in the broader context and influence the socio-technical transition from different perspectives.

After all, it can be argued that gradual change and innovation acceptance, therefore, the large-scale EV adoption and the transition from ICEVs to EVs cannot be completed without considering and involving consumer factor. The consumer factor represents the societal perspective within the STT, and consumer factor plays a key role with their rational choices with the influencing factors from different perspectives as illustrated. In conclusion, consumer factor should be perceived as an influencing and fundamental factor that represents the societal perspective in the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs.

# 8. Conclusion

# 8.1. Conclusion

This master's thesis aim was to study the key factors that influence consumers' willingness to adopt electric vehicles in Sweden which was answered through the first research question. Also, the question of 'How can the consumer factor in socio-technical transitions such as from ICEVs to EVs be perceived?' was answered through the second research question. As presented in the results and analyzed in the analysis sections, the main conclusions of the study are stated below:

1. Financial incentives, purchase cost, driving range, and charging infrastructure are found to be key major influencing factors.

2.Innovation and technology that are found to be influencing factors during the research review are not found to be influencing key factors in this study.

3.Consumer knowledge is found to be one of the key influencing factors that have an impact on other found factors towards EV adoption.

4. Under other factors, minor factors such as the battery, weather conditions, uncertainty, reliability, and behavioral change are found to be influencing factors.

5. It is argued that the transition from ICEVs to EVs cannot be completed without considering and involving consumer factor. Therefore, the consumer factor should be perceived as an influencing and fundamental factor that represents the societal perspective in the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs.

As this study highlighted, neither at the national nor European level, the EV adoption is not enough to research the emission and climate targets. Also, the consumer factor on EV adoption seems underestimated. The study, first, focused on consumers' willingness to adopt EVs and provided the key influencing factors to increase EV adoption. Then, the study highlighted the role that consumers play within the transition. Considering the results of this study, although there might be national or local level differences, I suggest that most of the findings of this study are applicable to the European level. The first reason for this is electric vehicles on the road have recently started to grow and become popular, and challenges around EVs are similar. The second reason is that many member states in the EU have similar characteristics that make the innovation diffusion easier. And the last reason is that the transport is a shared competence between member states and the EU. Therefore, tackling the transport-related issues at the EU level will be more effective as well as applicable at the national level. However, as

previous research and the result of this study proves, there are important factors that should be focused on. This study did not carry EU document analysis due to its scope and limitations however mentioned EU documents or statements from Commissioners show that the consumer factor is neglected. Instead, the EU seems focusing on charging infrastructure and cost. The EU is already investing in EV charging stations and the goal is 1 million electric and hydrogen vehicle charging stations to be installed by 2025 (Virta, 2021). However, the European Court of Auditors (ECA) looked at how the EC supports member states in expanding EV charging infrastructure and found out that deployment of charging infrastructure is not quick enough to meet the targets and despite successes (European Court of Auditors, 2021). Furthermore, the same report by the European Court of Auditors (2021) also found out that there is a lack of an integrated EU electric mobility roadmap that helps member states to implement. In an environment where even charging infrastructure aims do not match with reality and the EU does not offer enough help to member states, consumer factors' importance becomes even more important on EV adoption. The charging infrastructure and the cost are often mentioned by the EU but results of this study show that these are only two of the found influencing factors. Education and consumer knowledge is the most important key factor in this study where focusing on education and improving awareness and knowledge can solve other influencing factors such as the range anxiety, cost and environmental concerns. For instance, according to LeasePlan (2020)'s Car Cost Index 2020, EVs are now more affordable than ever across Europe, and drivers in Sweden and Denmark have the lowest total cost of ownership. However, people tend to focus on the purchase cost rather than the total cost of ownership. Also, range anxiety seems unnecessary concern as people drive less than 40km daily and only need to charge the vehicle one time a week. It is shown that range is sufficient for over 90% of trips in Nordic countries according to Liu, Wu, Christinsen, Rautitatien, and Xue (2015). Therefore, considering the found factors of this study, providing and implementing EU-wide policies and education strategies could be very valuable and affect other factors positively towards EV adoption.

As mentioned in the thematic background of this study, Europe is leading in EV sales in the world but at the same time, Europe has the most ambitious climate goals. According to Vandermoere (2019), sustainability transitions such as transport system shifts take from 25 to 50 years to occur in a given system, however, the EU does not have this time to achieve the transport and climate goals that are set. Hence, if consumers are not put into the focus and their concerns, and influencing factors on EV adoption are not focused, it is not possible to complete the transition as the study underlined, hence, not possible to reach the emission goals or the Green Deal goals. In conclusion, this study aimed to provide the key factors on EV adoption as well as consumers' role in the socio-technical transition from ICEVs to EVs. A possible recommendation from this study is to approach EV policies from the consumers' perspective and influencing factors on consumers' willingness towards EVs from the EU level. Finally,

contributions from and limitations of this study are presented below as well as recommendations for further research.

## 8.2. Contributions & Limitations & Further Research

This thesis study brings unique contributions to literature. First, I perceived the EV adoption both from broader and narrower contexts and offer a two-theory integrated approach to answer the second research question, namely the rational choice and the multi-level perspective framework. Moreover, Sweden seems to rarely study the market of electric vehicles, especially from the influencing factors perspective on EV adoption. I provided factors besides the ones in the literature such as consumer knowledge, uncertainty, reliability, weather conditions, and behavioral change that were not found under the theory section. Besides, I drew conclusions for EU policies based on the results that could be very valuable to increase EV adoption in the EU. By analyzing which key factors influence people's willingness to adopt electric vehicles, it can be argued that findings towards EV adoption could speed up the EV adoption in Sweden, and the EU. The study also provided both qualitative and quantitative methods for data collection and involved both expert and non-expert perspectives which enriched the thesis' content.

This thesis study comes with limitations due to its scope and time frame such as only one Northern European country focus, one type of vehicle research as the electric vehicle, or not including some found factors. Some factors such as fuel prices are not included in the study thoroughly even though some research (Beresteanu & Li, 2011; Diamond, 2009) found them as an important factor. However, the inclusion of fuel price might need to include electricity price as well which makes it a topic to study itself. Furthermore, the importance of socio-demographical attributes and geographic conditions on EV adoption in Sweden dimension is highlighted by Westin et al. (2018). However, the geographical dimension was not focused on this study as well. There are, for instance, interesting factors that are not included in this research but could be a part of further research. As an example, Vassileva and Campillo (2017) found out that early adopters of EVs in Sweden are mostly male, well-educated, and mediumhigh income as this was also referred by I3 (see consumer knowledge). The study acknowledges that the participants to the questionnaire and interviews varied among different age groups and not all might not represent people who can afford electric vehicles or buy new cars. According to Parker (2020), millennials choose age 21 as the ideal time to buy or lease car first car, while Christopher Butleer (2019) highlights that EVs have started to become in the price range of Gen Z and millennials or as I3 mentioned that mostly 55+ males purchase EVs from the company perspective. The first two examples reflect the US consumers; however, a similar study is not found in Sweden or the EU. Besides, the author acknowledges that although involving all age groups provided a broad perspective and represented all

groups, on the other hand, it also might result in less representativeness on the age groups that buy new cars, usually older than 35 or 40. These age groups are seen as financially secure who can also afford to buy today's luxurious electric vehicles, therefore, including younger ages might not present today's conditions although different age group on EV purchase studies exist. However, considering the constant EV price decrease, and constant government incentives increase and the long-term emission and climate goals, the study aimed to represent all age groups older than 18+ as EVs are a growing trend and seen as the future transport models rather than today's acknowledging the possible impact of not limiting the age groups. Therefore, the study suggests that future studies could only focus on different age groups on EV adoption. Lastly, it should be noted that the integration of two theories namely RCT and MLP that answered the second research question has not been practiced before so far as the author's knowledge. Therefore, this approach might come with limitations and should be considered from this perspective. Moving forward, this thesis study calls for further research, policy development, and decision-making to acknowledge the dynamics and connection between the factors and barriers that electric vehicle adoption is facing. Therefore, the future study could focus on other countries in Europe to diversify, compare and enrich the study. Another suggestion would be to involve different vehicle types such as hybrid or hydrogen as this study only focused on battery electric vehicles. Finally using a different selection of methods and theories in the future study could offer a different perspective that enhances the study.

# References

Aakash Arora, Nathan Niese, Elizabeth Dreyer, Albert Waas, & Alex Xie. (2021, April 15). Why Electric Cars Can't Come Fast Enough. Retrieved 21/06/2021 from https://www.bcg.com/publications/2021/why-evs-need-to-accelerate-their-market-penetration

Aasness, M. A., & Odeck, J. (2015). The increase of electric vehicle usage in Norway—incentives and adverse effects. *European Transport Research Review*, 7(4), 34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12544-015-0182-4

- Abnett, K. (2020, December 4). EU to target 30 million electric cars by 2030 draft. *Reuters*. Retrieved 20/06/2021 from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-climate-change-eu-transportidUSKBN28E2KM
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50, 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Akash Choudhury. (2015, August 26). *Questionnaire Method of Data Collection : Advantages and Disadvantages*. Retrieved 13/05/2021 from https://www.yourarticlelibrary.com/social-research/data-collection/questionnaire-method-of-data-collection-advantages-and-disadvantages/64512
- Alan Bryman. (2012). Social Research Methods (4th ed.). Oxford New York: Oxford University Press. Retrieved from

 $https://www.academia.edu/35170331/Alan\_Bryman\_Social\_Research\_Methods\_4th\_Edition$ 

- Alex Lauer. (2020, November 19). *Can Electric Cars Survive in Winter?* Retrieved 10/05/2021 from https://www.insidehook.com/article/vehicles/can-electric-cars-survive-winter
- Ali Soltani-Sobh, Kevin Heaslip, Ryan Bosworth, Ryan Barnes, & Donghyung Yook. (2015). Investigating factors affecting electric vehicles adoption: an. *World Electric Vehicle Journal*,

7, 11.

- Amadeo, K. (2020, August 31). The Truth About the 1973 Arab Oil Crisis. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.thebalance.com/opec-oil-embargo-causes-and-effects-of-the-crisis-3305806
- Amnesty International. (n.d.). *Is my phone powered by child labour?* Retrieved 14/05/2021 from https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/campaigns/2016/06/drc-cobalt-child-labour/
- Anable, J., Skippon, S., Schuitema, G., & Kinnear, N. (2016). Who will adopt electric vehicles? A segmentation approach of UK consumers.
- Arts, J., Frambach, R., & Bijmolt, T. (2011). Generalizations on Consumer Innovation Adoption: A Meta-Analysis on Drivers of Intention and Behavior. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijresmar.2010.11.002
- Baden-Fuller, C., & Haefliger, S. (2013). Business Models and Technological Innovation. Managing Business Models for Innovation, Strategic Change and Value Creation, 46(6), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2013.08.023
- Bamberg, S., & Möser, G. (2007). Twenty years after Hines, Hungerford, and Tomera: A new metaanalysis of psycho-social determinants of pro-environmental behaviour. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 27(1), 14–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2006.12.002
- Beresteanu, A., & Li, S. (2011). Gasoline Prices, Government Support, And The Demand For Hybrid Vehicles In The United States\*. *International Economic Review*, 52, 161–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2354.2010.00623.x
- Berkhout, F., Smith, A., & Stirling, A. (2004). Socio-Technological Regimes and Transition Contexts. System Innovation and the Transition to Sustainability: Theory, Evidence and Policy. Edward Elgar, Cheltenham, 48–75. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781845423421.00013

BMW Group. (2017, July 25). Electrification strategy. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from

/content/grpw/websites/bmwgroup\_com/en/responsibility/sustainable-stories/popup-folder/electrification-strategy.html

- Bobeth, S., & Kastner, I. (2020). Buying an electric car: A rational choice or a norm-directed behavior? *Transportation Research Part F: Traffic Psychology and Behaviour*, 73, 236–258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trf.2020.06.009
- Bolton, R., & Foxon, T. J. (2015). Infrastructure transformation as a socio-technical process —
  Implications for the governance of energy distribution networks in the UK. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *90*, 538–550. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2014.02.017
- Boudon, R. (1998). Limitations of Rational Choice Theory. *American Journal of Sociology*, 104(3), 817–828. https://doi.org/10.1086/210087
- Broadbent, G. H., Metternicht, G., & Drozdzewski, D. (2019). An Analysis of Consumer Incentives in Support of Electric Vehicle Uptake: An Australian Case Study. World Electric Vehicle Journal, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/wevj10010011
- Burton, N. (2013). *History of Electric Cars*. Crowood. Retrieved from https://books.google.se/books?id=mZV8AwAAQBAJ
- Cambridge Dictionary. (n.d.). *factor*. Retrieved 15/03/2021 from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/factor
- Carley, S., Krause, R., Lane, B., & Graham, J. (2013). Intent to Purchase a Plug-In Electric Vehicle: A Survey of Early Impressions in Large US Cites. *Transportation Research Part D Transport* and Environment, 18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2012.09.007
- Carroll, S. G. (2021, April 14). *Deployment of EU electric vehicle charging stations too slow, auditors say*. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from https://www.euractiv.com/section/electric-cars/news/deployment-of-eu-electric-vehicle-charging-stations-too-slow-auditors-say/

Chai, S.-K. (2001). *Choosing an Identity*. University of Michigan Press. https://doi.org/10.3998/mpub.13434

- *Charging stations in Norway*. Retrieved 06/01/2021 from https://www.electromaps.com/en/charging-stations/norway
- Chris Randall. (2020, March 25). *Sweden: marketshare for plug-in vehicles nears 25%*. Retrieved 18/04/2021 from https://www.electrive.com/2020/03/25/swedens-electrification-boom-continues-despite-pandemic/
- Christopher Butleer. (2019, October). *Electric car prices finally in reach of millennial, Gen Z buyers*. Retrieved 22/06/2021 from https://www.cnbc.com/2019/10/20/electric-car-prices-finally-in-reach-of-millennial-gen-z-buyers.html
- Collin, R., Miao, Y., Yokochi, A., Enjeti, P., & Jouanne, A. (2019). Advanced Electric Vehicle Fast-Charging Technologies. *Energies*, *12*, 1839. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12101839
- Common, D., & English, J. (2019, December 29). Here's the murky truth around an electric vehicle's carbon footprint / CBC News. Retrieved 11/03/2021 from https://www.cbc.ca/news/technology/ev-electric-vehicle-carbon-footprint-1.5394126
- Dagsvik, J., Wennemo, T., Wetterwald, D., & Aaberge, R. (2002). Potential demand for alternative fuel vehicles. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 36, 361–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0965-8564(01)00013-1
- Dale Hall & Nic Lutsey. (2018, February). Effects of battery manufacturing on electric vehicle lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions. The International Council on Clean Transportation. Retrieved from https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/EV-life-cycle-GHG\_ICCT-Briefing\_09022018\_vF.pdf

Dan Strohl. (2010, October 6). Ford, Edison and the Cheap EV That Almost Was / WIRED. Retrieved

10/03/2021 from https://www.wired.com/2010/06/henry-ford-thomas-edison-ev/

- David Coffin & Jeff Horowitz. (2018, December). The Supply Chain for Electric Vehicle Batteries. Journal of International Commerce and Economics. Retrieved from https://www.usitc.gov/publications/332/journals/the\_supply\_chain\_for\_electric\_vehicle\_batter ies.pdf
- Degirmenci, K., & Breitner, M. H. (2017). Consumer purchase intentions for electric vehicles: Is green more important than price and range? *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, *51*, 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.01.001
- Diamond, D. (2009). The impact of government incentives for hybrid-electric vehicles: Evidence from US states. *Energy Policy*, *37*, 972–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.094
- Drost, E. (2011). Validity and Reliability in Social Science Research. *Education Research and Perspectives*, 38, 105–124.
- Egnér, F., & Trosvik, L. (2018). Electric vehicle adoption in Sweden and the impact of local policy instruments. *Energy Policy*, *121*, 584–596. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.06.040
- Eltis. (2017). *Stockholm: implementing a public electric vehicle charging network (Sweden) / Eltis* [The Urban Mobility Observatory]. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from https://www.eltis.org/discover/case-studies/stockholm-implementing-public-electric-vehiclecharging-network-sweden

Energimyndigheten. (2016). Nulägesrapport inom samordnings- uppdraget fossilfri transportsektor. Statens energimyndighet. Retrieved from https://www.energimyndigheten.se/contentassets/f658f1da45b643f8bdcd2c47f957e208/nulage srapport-inom-samordningsuppdraget-fossilfri-transportsektor.pdf

Energimyndigheten. (2018a). Energiläget. Retrieved 15/03/2021 from
http://www.energimyndigheten.se/statistik/energilaget/

- Energimyndigheten. (2018b). *Energy in Sweden 2018*. Retrieved 11/03/2021 from https://energimyndigheten.a-w2m.se/Home.mvc?resourceId=109690
- Environmental Performance Index. (2020). *Environmental Performance Index | Environmental Performance Index*. Retrieved 25/04/2021 from https://epi.yale.edu/epi-results/2020/component/epi
- EUR-Lex. (n.d.). *Transport EUR-Lex*. Retrieved 23/06/2021 from https://eurlex.europa.eu/summary/chapter/transport.html?locale=en&root\_default=SUM\_1\_CODED%3 D32
- European Automobile Manufacturers Association. (2021, February 4). *Fuel types of new cars: electric* 10.5%, hybrid 11.9%, petrol 47.5% market share full-year 2020 / ACEA - European Automobile Manufacturers' Association. Retrieved 23/04/2021 from https://www.acea.be/press-releases/article/fuel-types-of-new-cars-electric-10.5-hybrid-11.9petrol-47.5-market-share-f
- European Battery Alliance. (n.d.). *Building a European battery industry*. Retrieved 18/06/2021 from https://www.eba250.com/
- European Commission. (2016a, November 23). 2050 long-term strategy [Text]. Retrieved 10/04/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/strategies/2050\_en
- European Commission. (2016b). A European Strategy for Low-Emission Mobility. European Commission. Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:e44d3c21-531e-11e6-89bd-01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/DOC\_1&format=PDF
- European Commission. (2016c, September 22). *Electric vehicles* [Text]. Retrieved 18/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/urban/vehicles/road/electric\_en

- European Commission. (2016d, November 23). *Reducing CO2 emissions from passenger cars before* 2020 [Text]. Retrieved 10/04/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/vehicles/cars en
- European Commission. (2016e, November 23). *Transport emissions* [Text]. Retrieved 04/01/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport\_en
- European Commission. (2019a, October 23). *EU climate action and the European Green Deal* [Text]. Retrieved 10/04/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/eu-climate-action\_en
- European Commission. (2019b, June). Taxonomy Technical Report. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/business\_economy\_euro/banking\_and\_finance/doc uments/190618-sustainable-finance-teg-report-taxonomy\_en.pdf
- European Commission. (2020a, December). *A fundamental transport transformation* [Text]. Retrieved 04/01/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_20\_2329
- European Commission. (2020b, December 9). *A fundamental transport transformation* [Text]. Retrieved 19/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_20\_2329
- European Commission. (2020c, December). *Questions and Answers on Sustainable Batteries Regulation* [Text]. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/qanda\_20\_2311
- European Commission. (2020d, May 19). *Statement by Vice-President Maroš Šefčovič on the EBA* [Text]. Retrieved 18/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/de/statement\_20\_914
- European Commission. (2021a). *EU taxonomy for sustainable activities | European Commission*. Retrieved 18/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainable-finance/eu-taxonomy-sustainable-activities\_en#preparatory

European Commission. (2021b, April 30). *Frans Timmermans' statement at the Irish Climate Summit* 2021 [Text]. Retrieved 20/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/commission/commissioners/2019-2024/timmermans/announcements/frans-timmermans-statement-irish-climate-summit-2021\_en

European Commission. (2021c). INCEPTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/12655-CO2emissions-for-cars-and-vans-revision-of-performance-standards\_en

European Commission. (n.d.a). *CO2 emissions for cars and vans – revision of performance standards*. Retrieved 20/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/better-regulation/have-your-say/initiatives/12655-CO2-emissions-for-cars-and-vans-revision-of-performance-standards\_en

European Commission. (n.d.b). *CO*<sup>2</sup> *emission performance standards for cars and vans* [Text]. Retrieved 20/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/transport/vehicles/regulation\_en

- European Commission. (n.d.c). *DG MOVE DG for Mobility and Transport | Knowledge for policy*. Retrieved 22/06/2021 from https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu/organisation/dg-move-dg-mobility-transport\_en
- European Council. (2020, March 5). *Environment Council, 5 March 2020*. Retrieved 04/04/2021 from https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/meetings/env/2020/03/05/

European Court of Auditors. (2016, June 16). *European Court of Auditors (ECA)* [Text]. Retrieved 19/06/2021 from https://europa.eu/european-union/about-eu/institutions-bodies/european-court-auditors\_en

European Court of Auditors. (2021, April 13). Special Report 05/2021: Infrastructure for charging electric vehicles: more charging stations but uneven deployment makes travel across the EU

complicated. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from

https://www.eca.europa.eu/en/Pages/DocItem.aspx?did=58260

- European Environment Agency. (2011, April 13). *1990s European Environment Agency* [Page]. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.eea.europa.eu/environmental-time-line/1990s
- European Environment Agency. (2020, December). Greenhouse gas emissions from transport in Europe [Indicator Assessment]. Retrieved 04/01/2021 from https://www.eea.europa.eu/dataand-maps/indicators/transport-emissions-of-greenhouse-gases-7/assessment
- European Environment Agency. (2021a, March 31). *About us European Environment Agency* [Page]. Retrieved 19/06/2021 from https://www.eea.europa.eu/about-us
- European Environment Agency. (2021b, January 11). Growth without economic growth European Environment Agency [Briefing]. Retrieved 21/06/2021 from https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/growth-without-economic-growth
- European Parliament. (2019). *Hearing of Adina-Ioana VĂLEAN, Commissioner-designate, Transport: opening statement by Adina-Ioana VĂLEAN*. Retrieved from https://multimedia.europarl.europa.eu/en/hearing-of-adina-ioana-vlean-commissionerdesignate-transport-opening-statement\_I180244-V\_v
- European Parliament. (2020, March 4). *Greta Thunberg urges MEPs to show climate leadership | News | European Parliament*. Retrieved 04/04/2021 from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/news/en/headlines/society/20200227STO73520/gretathunberg-urges-meps-to-show-climate-leadership
- EV Database. EV Database. Retrieved 17/03/2021 from https://ev-database.org/cheatsheet/rangeelectric-car
- Felix Richter. (2021, February 19). Chart: Which countries have the most electric cars? Retrieved

17/03/2021 from https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/02/electric-vehicles-europepercentage-sales/

- Fevolden, A. M., & Klitkou, A. (2017). A fuel too far? Technology, innovation, and transition in failed biofuel development in Norway. *Energy Research & Social Science*, 23, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2016.10.010
- Flamm, B. J., & Agrawal, A. W. (2012). Constraints to green vehicle ownership: A focus group study. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 17(2), 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2011.09.013
- Frank. (2019, January 24). Sweden to ban fossil-fuel cars by 2030 [Text]. Retrieved 30/01/2021 from https://www.fleeteurope.com/en/safety-taxation-and-legislation/sweden/news/sweden-banfossil-fuel-cars-2030
- Franke, T., Bühler, F., Cocron, P., Neumann, I., Krems, J. F., Sullman, M., & Dorn, L. (2012). Advances in traffic psychology. (null, Ed.) (Vol. null).
- Geels, F. W. (2002). Technological transitions as evolutionary reconfiguration processes: a multi-level perspective and a case-study. *NELSON* + *WINTER* + 20, 31(8), 1257–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(02)00062-8
- Geels, F. W. (2011). The multi-level perspective on sustainability transitions: Responses to seven criticisms. *Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions*, 1(1), 24–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2011.02.002
- Geels, F. W. (2012). A socio-technical analysis of low-carbon transitions: introducing the multi-level perspective into transport studies. *Special Section on Theoretical Perspectives on Climate Change Mitigation in Transport*, 24, 471–482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.01.021

Geels, F. W., Sovacool, B. K., Schwanen, T., & Sorrell, S. (2017). The Socio-Technical Dynamics of

Low-Carbon Transitions. Joule, 1(3), 463–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2017.09.018

- Genus, A., & Coles, A.-M. (2008). Rethinking the multi-level perspective of technological transitions. *Research Policy*, *37*, 1436–1445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2008.05.006
- Gilboa, I., Postlewaite, A., & Schmeidler, D. (2012). Rationality of Belief or: Why Savage's Axioms are Neither Necessary Nor Sufficient for Rationality, Second Version. *Synthese*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11229-011-0034-2
- Government Offices of Sweden. (2018). The Swedish climate policy framework. Ministry of the Environment and Energy. Retrieved from

https://www.government.se/495f60/contentassets/883ae8e123bc4e42aa8d59296ebe0478/the-swedish-climate-policy-

framework.pdf?TSPD\_101\_R0=088d4528d9ab2000f16e315972f6237e19651e6b708c5ca1d9a 53644554141cd1600d22298c1c9bd08cff11c1c1430005e7b8f9ee81ed04b571ae764206041d23 a685fe096fbd055388be97248bf09a90aae02c4f54bef1b5eac5c51fd5b8bf3

- Government Offices of Sweden. (2019, December 20). Inquiry appointed on phasing out fossil fuels and banning sales of new petrol and diesel cars - Government.se. Retrieved 23/04/2021 from https://www.government.se/press-releases/2019/12/inquiry-appointed-on-phasing-out-fossilfuels-and-banning-sales-of-new-petrol-and-diesel-cars/
- Hagman, J., Ritzén, S., Stier, J. J., & Susilo, Y. (2016). Total cost of ownership and its potential implications for battery electric vehicle diffusion. *Innovations in Technologies for Sustainable Transport*, 18, 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rtbm.2016.01.003
- Hall, C. (2021, March 4). *Future electric cars: Upcoming EVs on the road soon*. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.pocket-lint.com/cars/news/140845-future-cars-and-upcoming-electronic-cars-of-the-future-coming-soon

Hall, D., & Lutsey, N. Effects of battery manufacturing on electric vehicle life-cycle greenhouse gas

emissions, 12.

- Haustein, S., & Jensen, A. F. (2018). Factors of electric vehicle adoption: A comparison of conventional and electric car users based on an extended theory of planned behavior. *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, *12*(7), 484–496. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2017.1398790
- Haustein, S., Jensen, A. F., & Cherchi, E. (2021). Battery electric vehicle adoption in Denmark and Sweden: Recent changes, related factors and policy implications. *Energy Policy*, 149, 112096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.112096

Hawkins, A. J. (2019, October 16). Volvo unveils its first fully electric car — and a bold pledge to go carbon-neutral. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.theverge.com/2019/10/16/20915841/volvo-xc40-recharge-electric-suv-specsmiles-range-reveal

- Herfeld, C. (2012). The Potentials and Limitations of Rational Choice Theory: An Interview with Gary Becker. *Erasmus Journal for Philosophy and Economics*, *5*, 73–86. https://doi.org/10.23941/ejpe.v5i1.101
- Holland, S. P., Mansur, E. T., Muller, N. Z., & Yates, A. J. (2016). Are There Environmental Benefits from Driving Electric Vehicles? The Importance of Local Factors. *The American Economic Review*, 106(12), 3700–3729.
- I., M., & De Pelsmacker, P. (2012). Emotions as determinants of electric car usage intention. *Journal* of Marketing Management, 28, 195–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/0267257X.2012.659007
- Ingeborgrud, L., & Ryghaug, M. (2019). The role of practical, cognitive and symbolic factors in the successful implementation of battery electric vehicles in Norway. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 130, 507–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2019.09.045

- Jacoby, J. (2013). Is It Rational to Assume Consumer Rationality? Some Consumer Psychological Perspectives on Rational Choice Theory. *Roger Williams University Law Review*, 6. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.239538
- Jansson, J., Nordlund, A., & Westin, K. (2017). Examining drivers of sustainable consumption: The influence of norms and opinion leadership on electric vehicle adoption in Sweden. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 154, 176–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.186
- Jensen, A. F., Cherchi, E., & Mabit, S. L. (2013). On the stability of preferences and attitudes before and after experiencing an electric vehicle. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 25, 24–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2013.07.006
- Jian Wang & Wei Zhou. (2019, Spring Semester of). *Factors Influencing the Purchase Willingness towards Electric Vehicles in China*. Uppsala, Sweden: Uppsala. Retrieved from https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1331425/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- Joshua Hou. (2020, May 17). *The History Of The Electric Vehicle: How Tesla Changed The Game | by Joshua Hou | Predict | Medium*. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://medium.com/predict/the-history-of-the-electric-vehicle-how-tesla-changed-the-game-6791c0806d98
- Julia Poliscanova. (n.d). *Electric cars / Transport & Environment*. Retrieved 11/03/2021 from https://www.transportenvironment.org/what-we-do/electric-cars
- Kaidesoja, T. (2012). The DBO theory of action and distributed cognition. Social Science Information, 51, 311–337. https://doi.org/10.1177/0539018412441750
- Kaplan, S., Gruber, J., Reinthaler, M., & Klauenberg, J. (2016). Intentions to introduce electric vehicles in the commercial sector: A model based on the theory of planned behaviour. *Climate Change Targets and Urban Transport Policy*, 55, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2016.04.006

- Katharina Rossbach. (2015, May 31). ANALYSIS OF FUTURE SCENARIOS FOR ELECTRIC VEHICLE ADOPTION IN SWEDEN. Mälerdens Högskola. Retrieved from https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:900979/FULLTEXT01.pdf
- KELLEY, K., CLARK, B., BROWN, V., & SITZIA, J. (2003). Good practice in the conduct and reporting of survey research. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 15(3), 261– 266. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzg031
- Krishna, G. (2021). Understanding and identifying barriers to electric vehicle adoption through thematic analysis. *Transportation Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, 10, 100364. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2021.100364
- Krzyzanowski, M., Kuna-Dibbert, B., & Schneider, J. (2005). *Health effects of transport-related air pollution*. (null, Ed.) (Vol. null).
- Langbroek, J. H. M., Franklin, J. P., & Susilo, Y. O. (2016). The effect of policy incentives on electric vehicle adoption. *Energy Policy*, *94*, 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2016.03.050
- Leandra Poindexter Cooper. (2014, February). Electric Vehicle Diffusion and Adoption. Háskólaprent. Retrieved from https://skemman.is/bitstream/1946/17028/1/Cooper\_thesis\_final.pdf
- LeasePlan. (2020). 2020 Car Cost Index. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from https://www.leaseplan.com/enes/blog/2020-car-cost-index/
- Levay, P., & Drossinos, Y. (2017). The effect of fiscal incentives on market penetration of electric vehicles: A pairwise comparison of total cost of ownership. *Energy Policy*, 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.02.054
- Levin, J., & Milgrom, P. (2004). Introduction to Choice Theory.
- Li, W., Long, R., Chen, H., & Geng, J. (2017). A review of factors influencing consumer intentions to adopt battery electric vehicles. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 78, 318–328.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.04.076

- Liebe, U., & Preisendörfer, P. (2010). Rational Choice Theory and the Environment: Variants, Applications, and New Trends. In *Environmental Sociology: European Perspectives and Interdisciplinary Challenges* (pp. 141–157). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-8730-0\_9
- Lieven, T., Mühlmeier, S., Henkel, S., & Waller, J. F. (2011). Who will buy electric cars? An empirical study in Germany. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 16(3), 236–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2010.12.001
- Liu, H.-C., You, X.-Y., Xue, Y.-X., & Luan, X. (2017). Exploring critical factors influencing the diffusion of electric vehicles in China: A multi-stakeholder perspective. *Research in Transportation Economics*, 66, 46–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2017.10.001
- Liu, Z., Wu, Q., Christinsen, L., Rautitatien, A., & Xue, Y. (2015). Driving pattern analysis of Nordic region based on National Travel Surveys for electric vehicle integration. *Journal of Modern Power Systems and Clean Energy*, 3(2), 180–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40565-015-0127-x
- Long, Z., Axsen, J., & Kormos, C. (2019). Consumers continue to be confused about electric vehicles: comparing awareness among Canadian new car buyers in 2013 and 2017. *Environmental Research Letters*, 14(11), 114036. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab4ca1
- Lu, M. (2021, May 12). *Europe Leads in EV Sales, but for How Long*? Retrieved 22/06/2021 from https://www.visualcapitalist.com/europe-leads-in-ev-sales-but-for-how-long/
- Mancini, L., & Nuss, P. (2020). Responsible Materials Management for a Resource-Efficient and Low-Carbon Society. *Resources*, 9, 68. https://doi.org/10.3390/resources9060068
- Manon Molliere. (2021, February). CO2 targets propel Europe to 1st place in emobility race. Transport. Retrieved from https://www.transportenvironment.org/sites/te/files/publications/2020%20EV%20sales%20bri

- Marta Moses. (2020, February 15). *Benefits of electric cars on the environment*. Retrieved 11/03/2021 from https://www.edfenergy.com/for-home/energywise/electric-cars-and-environment
- Martin, H. (2016). Innovation for tackling grand challenges : Cleantech industry dynamics and regional context (thesis/doccomp No. 13). Meddelande från Institutionen för kulturgeografi och ekonomisk geografi. Lund University. Retrieved from http://lup.lub.lu.se/record/8be9a08ff47d-4472-8eba-bc443b3a9385
- Michelle Hill. (2019). Coping With EV Adoption Uncertainty. Retrieved 11/05/2021 from https://www.oliverwyman.com/our-expertise/insights/2019/jun/automotive-manager-2019/production/coping-with-ev-adoption-uncertainty.html
- MiljöFordon. (2020). *Bonus-malus | Miljöfordon*. Retrieved 20/03/2021 from https://www.miljofordon.se/ekonomi/bonus-malus/

Model 3. Retrieved 06/01/2021 from https://www.tesla.com/model3

- Nahid Golafshani. (2003). Understanding Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research, The Qualitative Report. In *12-1-2003* (Vol. 8, pp. 597–606). Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR8-4/golafshani.pdf
- Nathan Picarsic. (2020, November 23). *Risky business: the hidden costs of EV battery raw materials*. Retrieved 11/03/2021 from https://www.automotiveworld.com/articles/risky-business-thehidden-costs-of-ev-battery-raw-materials/

National Geographic. (2019, September 19). World climate change report card: These countries are meeting goals. Retrieved 24/04/2021 from https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/climate-change-report-card-co2emissions

- Neal E. Boudette & Coral Davenport. (2021, January 29). G.M. Announcement Shakes Up U.S. Automakers' Transition to Electric Cars - The New York Times. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/29/business/general-motors-electric-cars.html
- Newman, D., Wells, P., Donovan, C., Nieuwenhuis, P., & Davies, H. (2014). Urban, sub-urban or rural: Where is the best place for electric vehicles? *International Journal of Automotive Technology and Management*, 14, 306–323. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJATM.2014.065295
- Noel, L., Zarazua de Rubens, G., Kester, J., & Sovacool, B. K. (2020). Understanding the sociotechnical nexus of Nordic electric vehicle (EV) barriers: A qualitative discussion of range, price, charging and knowledge. *Energy Policy*, *138*, 111292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111292
- Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy. (n.d.). *Reducing Pollution with Electric Vehicles*. Retrieved 11/03/2021 from https://www.energy.gov/eere/electricvehicles/reducing-pollutionelectric-vehicles
- Ogu, M. (2013). Rational Choice Theory : Assumptions , Strenghts , and Greatest Weaknesses in Application Outside the Western Milieu Context. *Nigerian Chapter of Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, *1*, 90–99. https://doi.org/10.12816/0003628
- Oxford Dictionary. (n.d.). transition\_1 noun Definition, pictures, pronunciation and usage notes / Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary at OxfordLearnersDictionaries.com. Retrieved 03/04/2021 from https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/definition/english/transition 1?q=transition
- Parker, J. (2020). *Millennials choose age 21 as ideal time to buy or lease first car*. Retrieved 22/06/2021 from https://www.postandcourier.com/automotive/millennials-choose-age-21-as-ideal-time-to-buy-or-lease-first-car/article\_fc8bcb1a-a72d-11e8-9b0a-7f280856258c.html

Paternotte, C. (2011). Rational Choice Theory (pp. 307–321).

- Peters, A., & Dütschke, E. (2014). How do Consumers Perceive Electric Vehicles? A Comparison of German Consumer Groups. *Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning*, 16. https://doi.org/10.1080/1523908X.2013.879037
- Polestar. (2019, November 18). *Pure progressive performance | Polestar*. Retrieved 12/03/2021 from https://www.polestar.com/en-ca/news/pure-progressive-transparency/
- Polestar. (n.d.). *Polestar.com | Transparent about sustainability*. Retrieved 20/03/2021 from https://www.polestar.com/uk/electric-sustainability/transparency/
- Posner, R. A. (1998). Rational Choice, Behavioral Economics, and the Law. *Stanford Law Review*, 50(5), 1551–1575. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229305
- Rebecca Matulka. (2014, September 15). *The History of the Electric Car*. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.energy.gov/articles/history-electric-car
- Regeringskansliet, R. och. (2020a, October 28). *Nya nivåer i bonus-malus från 1 april nästa år* [Text]. https://doi.org/10/nya-nivaer-i-bonus-malus-fran-1-april-nasta-ar/

Regeringskansliet, R. och. (2020b, June 21). *Statligt stöd ska täcka vita fläckar på laddstationskartan* [Text]. Retrieved 06/01/2021 from https://www.regeringen.se/pressmeddelanden/2020/06/statligt-stod-ska-tacka-vita-flackar-paladdstationskartan/

- Rezvani, Z., Jansson, J., & Bodin, J. (2015). Advances in consumer electric vehicle adoption research: A review and research agenda. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 34, 122–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2014.10.010
- Robbert Slot. (2017, August 15). Factors Influencing the Adoption of Electric Vehicles in the Netherlands. Erasmus University. Retrieved from https://www.rsm.nl/fileadmin/Images\_NEW/ECFEB/pdf/2018\_thesis\_slot\_resit.pdf

- Robeco. (2020, December 4). *Most sustainable countries*. Retrieved 25/04/2021 from https://www.robeco.com/en/key-strengths/sustainable-investing/country-ranking/
- Robert Walton. (2020, December 14). *Electric vehicle models expected to triple in 4 years as declining battery costs boost adoption*. Retrieved 09/05/2021 from https://www.utilitydive.com/news/electric-vehicle-models-expected-to-triple-in-4-years-asdeclining-battery/592061/
- Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of Innovations: Modifications of a Model for Telecommunications. In M.-W. Stoetzer & A. Mahler (Eds.), *Die Diffusion von Innovationen in der Telekommunikation* (pp. 25–38). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-79868-9\_2
- SAGE. (2018). Analysing Semi-Structured Interviews Using Thematic Analysis: Exploring Voluntary Civic Participation Among Adults. 2018 SAGE Publications, Ltd. All Rights Reserved. Retrieved from https://methods.sagepub.com/base/download/DatasetStudentGuide/interviewsthematic-civic-participation
- Sanjari, M., Bahramnezhad, F., Fomani, F. K., Shoghi, M., & Cheraghi, M. A. (2014). Ethical challenges of researchers in qualitative studies: the necessity to develop a specific guideline. *Journal of Medical Ethics and History of Medicine*, 7, 14.
- Sato, Y. (2013). Rational choice theory. Sociopedia. https://doi.org/10.1177/205684601372
- Schuitema, G., Anable, J., Skippon, S., & Kinnear, N. (2013). The role of instrumental, hedonic and symbolic attributes in the intention to adopt electric vehicles. *Transportation Research Part A Policy and Practice*, 48, 39–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2012.10.004
- Schwartz, S. H., & Berkowitz, L. (1977). Advances in experimental social psychology. (null, Ed.) (Vol. 10).

- Schwartz, S. H., Howard, J. A., Rushton, J. P., & Sorrentino, R. M. (1981). *Altruism and helping behavior*. (null, Ed.) (Vol. null).
- Scott, J. (2021). Understanding Contemporary Society: Theories of the Present. In pages 126-138. London: SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446218310
- Shin, D.-H., & Shin, Y.-J. (2011). Why do people play social network games? Web 2.0 in Travel and Tourism: Empowering and Changing the Role of Travelers, 27(2), 852–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2010.11.010
- Smart, J. G. [Idaho N. Lab. (INL), Idaho Falls, ID (United States)], & Salisbury, S. D. [Idaho N. Lab. (INL), Idaho Falls, ID (United States)]. (2015). *Plugged In: How Americans Charge Their Electric Vehicles*. United States. https://doi.org/10.2172/1369632
- SMELSER, N. J. (1992). The Rational Choice Perspective: A Theoretical Assessment. *Rationality and Society*, *4*(4), 381–410. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043463192004004003
- Smith, A., Stirling, A., & Berkhout, F. (2005). The Governance Of Sustainable Socio-Technical Transitions. *Research Policy*, 1491–1510. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2005.07.005
- Smith, J. (2016, September 22). *Sustainable transport* [Text]. Retrieved 20/06/2021 from https://ec.europa.eu/transport/themes/sustainable\_en
- Smith, V. L. (1991). Rational Choice: The Contrast between Economics and Psychology. Journal of Political Economy, 99(4), 877–897.
- Song, R., & Potoglou, D. (2020). Are Existing Battery Electric Vehicles Adoption Studies Able to Inform Policy? A Review for Policymakers. *Sustainability*, 12(16). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12166494
- Statharas, S., Moysoglou, Y., Siskos, P., Zazias, G., & Capros, P. (2019a). Factors Influencing Electric Vehicle Penetration in the EU by 2030: A Model-Based Policy Assessment. *Energies*, 12(14).

https://doi.org/10.3390/en12142739

- Statharas, S., Moysoglou, Y., Siskos, P., Zazias, G., & Capros, P. (2019b). Factors Influencing Electric Vehicle Penetration in the EU by 2030: A Model-Based Policy Assessment. *Energies*, 12, 2739. https://doi.org/10.3390/en12142739
- Statista. (2021, February). *Registrations of battery electric vehicles: Europe*. Retrieved 20/06/2021 from https://www.statista.com/statistics/1021892/number-of-battery-electric-vehicleregistrations-in-the-eu/
- Steinhilber, S., Wells, P., & Thankappan, S. (2013). Socio-technical inertia: Understanding the barriers to electric vehicles. *Energy Policy*, 60, 531–539. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.04.076
- Steven L. Green. (2002, May). Rational Choice Theory: An Overview. Retrieved from https://business.baylor.edu/steve\_green/green1.doc
- Sweden. (2015, September 7). *Sweden an overview*. Retrieved 26/04/2021 from https://sweden.se/society/sweden-an-overview/
- Sweden to further strengthen the electric vehicle charging infrastructure. Retrieved 06/01/2021 from https://www.marketopportunities.fi/home/2020/sweden-to-further-strengthen-the-electric-vehicle-charging-infrastructure
- Sweden.se. (2020a, April 14). *Energy use in Sweden*. Retrieved 15/03/2021 from https://sweden.se/nature/energy-use-in-sweden/
- Sweden.se. (2020b). *Saving the climate | The official site of Sweden*. Retrieved 04/01/2021 from https://sweden.se/climate/
- Swedish Energy Agency. (2016). Nul ägesrapport inom samordningsuppdraget fossilfri transportsektor. Swedish Energy Agency.

Swedish Energy Agency. (2021, April 13). *About us*. Retrieved 19/06/2021 from http://www.energimyndigheten.se/en/about-us/

Swedish Environmental Research Institute. (2019, December 4). *New report on climate impact of electric car batteries* [text]. Retrieved 04/04/2021 from https://www.ivl.se/english/ivl/topmenu/press/news-and-press-releases/press-releases/2019-12-04-new-report-on-climate-impact-of-electric-car-batteries.html

- Taylor, K. (2020, December 7). *EU to target 30 million electric cars by 2030*. Retrieved 18/06/2021 from https://www.euractiv.com/section/electric-cars/news/eu-to-target-30-million-electric-cars-by-2030-draft/
- The Climate Reality Project. (2017, November 16). *Ten Key Facts to Know about the Climate Crisis*. Retrieved 04/01/2021 from https://www.climaterealityproject.org/blog/ten-key-facts-know-about-climate-crisis
- the-swedish-climate-policy-framework.pdf. Retrieved from

https://www.government.se/495f60/contentassets/883ae8e123bc4e42aa8d59296ebe0478/theswedish-climate-policyframework.pdf?TSPD\_101\_R0=088d4528d9ab2000f16e315972f6237e19651e6b708c5ca1d9a 53644554141cd1600d22298c1c9bd08cff11c1c1430005e7b8f9ee81ed04b571ae764206041d23 a685fe096fbd055388be97248bf09a90aae02c4f54bef1b5eac5c51fd5b8bf3

- Trafik Analys. (2021, February 16). Fordon i län och kommuner 2020. Sveriges Officiella Statistik. Retrieved from https://www.trafa.se/globalassets/statistik/vagtrafik/fordon/2021/fordon-i-lanoch-kommuner-2020.pdf
- Transportstyrelsen. (2019, December 30). Ändrad beräkningsgrund för fordonsskatten från den 1 januari. Retrieved 18/04/2021 from https://www.transportstyrelsen.se/sv/Nyhetsarkiv/2019/andrad-berakningsgrund-for-

fordonsskatten-fran-den-1-januari/

- Transportstyrelsen. (2021, March 12). *Snart erbjuds höjd klimatbonus*. Retrieved 18/04/2021 from https://www.transportstyrelsen.se/sv/Nyhetsarkiv/2021/snart-erbjuds-hojd-klimatbonus/
- Tu, J.-C., & Yang, C. (2019). Key Factors Influencing Consumers' Purchase of Electric Vehicles. Sustainability, 11(14). https://doi.org/10.3390/su11143863
- United Nations. (2019, September 24). Greta Thunberg tells world leaders 'you are failing us', as nations announce fresh climate action / United Nations For Youth. Retrieved 04/04/2021 from https://www.un.org/development/desa/youth/news/2019/09/greta-thunberg/
- United Nations. (n.d.a). *The Paris Agreement | UNFCCC*. Retrieved 19/06/2021 from https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement
- Vandermoere, F. (2019). Sustainability Transitions. In W. Leal Filho (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Sustainability in Higher Education* (pp. 1–5). Cham: Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-63951-2\_496-1
- Vassileva, I., & Campillo, J. (2017). Adoption barriers for electric vehicles: Experiences from early adopters in Sweden. *Energy*, *120*, 632–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.11.119
- Vattenfall. (2018). Vattenfall and Volvo make home EV charging easier. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from https://group.vattenfall.com/press-and-media/pressreleases/2018/vattenfall-and-volvo-make-home-ev-charging-easier
- Virta. (2021a, May 4). *Myth buster #2: 'Electric vehicles will overload the power grid'*. Retrieved 10/05/2021 from https://www.virta.global/blog/myth-buster-electric-vehicles-will-overload-the-power-grid
- Virta. (2021b, February 11). *This is how EU regulation accelerates the electric vehicle revolution*. Retrieved 01/05/2021 from https://www.virta.global/blog/this-is-how-eu-regulation-

accelerates-the-electric-vehicle-revolution

- Vivienne Halleux. (2021, February). New EU regulatory framework for batteries. European Parliamentary Research Service. Retrieved from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2021/689337/EPRS\_BRI(2021)689337 \_EN.pdf
- Volkswagen. (n.d.). What we do to save the planet. Retrieved 04/04/2021 from https://www.volkswagenag.com/en/news/stories/2019/03/we-owe-it-to-our-children-to-findthe-right-answers.html#
- Volvo Car Group. (2019). Annual report 2019. Volvo Car Group. Retrieved from https://investors.volvocars.com/annualreport2019/assets/pdf/VCG\_AR\_ENG\_20200326.pdf
- Volvo Cars. *Electrification / Volvo Car Group*. Retrieved 05/01/2021 from https://group.volvocars.com:443/company/innovation/electrification
- Wesseling, J. H., Bidmon, C., & Bohnsack, R. (2020). Business model design spaces in sociotechnical transitions: The case of electric driving in the Netherlands. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 154, 119950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2020.119950
- Westin, K., Jansson, J., & Nordlund, A. (2018). The importance of socio-demographic characteristics, geographic setting, and attitudes for adoption of electric vehicles in Sweden. *Travel Behaviour* and Society, 13, 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2018.07.004
- Why are electric cars more expensive than conventional ones? / Drupal. Retrieved 05/01/2021 from https://www.erneuerbar-mobil.de/en/node/985
- Wilson, K. A. (2018, March 15). Worth the Watt: A Brief History of the Electric Car, 1830 to Present. Retrieved 10/03/2021 from https://www.caranddriver.com/features/g15378765/worth-thewatt-a-brief-history-of-the-electric-car-1830-to-present

Wittek, R. (2013). Rational Choice Theory. (pp. 688-690).

- Xu, C., Dai, Q., Gaines, L., Hu, M., Tukker, A., & Steubing, B. (2020). Future material demand for automotive lithium-based batteries. *Communications Materials*, 1(1), 99. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43246-020-00095-x
- Xue, C., Zhou, H., Wu, Q., Wu, X., & Xu, X. (2021). Impact of Incentive Policies and Other Socio-Economic Factors on Electric Vehicle Market Share: A Panel Data Analysis from the 20 Countries. *Sustainability*, *13*(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13052928
- Yan, Q., Qin, G., Zhang, M., & Xiao, B. (2019). Research on Real Purchasing Behavior Analysis of Electric Cars in Beijing Based on Structural Equation Modeling and Multinomial Logit Model. Sustainability, 11(20). https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205870
- Yin, R. (2003). A Review of Case Study Research: Design and Methods. In Applied Social Research Methods (Vol. 5, p. 219).
- Zhang, Y., Yu, Y., & Zou, B. (2011). Analyzing public awareness and acceptance of alternative fuel vehicles in China: The case of EV. Asian Energy Security, 39(11), 7015–7024. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.055

# Appendix

## Appendix 1 Semi-structured Interview Guide

The design of the interviews was organized through the findings of the research review and considering theories. The findings from theories and research review made it possible to gather data and analyze the research questions. In the beginning of each interview, the procedure of informing the interviewees regarding the author, the author's program and university, and the aim of the thesis is followed. Also, each interviewee was asked for consent to record and publish the interviewee's answers anonymously. The questions were adjusted based on the participants' workplace and background. For example, the questions were slightly re-arranged with the expert interviews to get the institution or the company's perspective as well as the experts' thoughts both individually and professionally. The guide was followed in general, however, a spontaneous question was asked sometimes depending on the topic and the discussion when it was possible to get a better understanding of the topic. In general, the aim was to get an in-depth understanding of the factors on EV adoption that influence the interviewees. Interviewees were not cut in and allowed to talk as much as they want. This led, sometimes, interviewees to talk about topics before I ask the questions. In general, this allowed us to have broad and deep discussions around the topics. Also, each time interview did not have the specific knowledge, relevant information was provided to the interviewee and then the question was asked again. As an example, if the interviewee did not know about the range of EVs today, general information was provided and then asked the following question of 'do you consider EVs range enough today for you to consider an electric vehicle?". Experts explicitly stated that the answers represent their own opinions, not the institution, company itself.

#### 1. Background

The interviews started with the background information of the interviewee. In the beginning of each interview, the interview guide was followed. The information about the thesis, the author, the study program was provided. And it was clearly defined that the interviewees' names will not be shared, and it will be anonymous. This was to make sure that participants feel comfortable and speak freely without concerns. Then the background questions were followed under the below headers.

Name

Age

Location

EV experience

Car ownership

#### 2. What are the key factors/barriers that affect your attitudes towards EV adoption?

The interviews were held in line with the thesis study's literature review and theories. Depending on the discussion, the below questions were slightly changed, another question was asked to get a better grasp of the topic. However, in general, the found influencing factors were part of the interviews and followed through.

How important the environment and environmental initiatives to you? And how do you associate the environment with electric vehicles?

Do you consider the cost of the electric vehicle as an important factor?

• Do you think electric cars are affordable today?

Do you think financial incentives & government policies are important on EV adoption?

- Are you aware of the Sweden's government incentives?
- Do you think the government's incentive is efficient enough?

Do you find charging & charging infrastructure an influencer factor on EV adoption?

- Do you think charging infrastructure is available enough for you to consider an EV today?
- Do you think charging infrastructure visible to you?

How do you consider the driving range of electric vehicles on EV adoption?

- Do you have knowledge on driving range of electric vehicles?
- Do you consider EVs range enough for you to consider an electric vehicle?

#### 3. Are there any other factors/topics you would like to share?

This question's aim was to prevent the study to only focus on the above factors and lose sight of other possible factors to the interviewee. Therefore, the aim was to discover other factors & topics that the study did not consider yet might be an important factor to the interviewee. This question led the thesis study to discover the 'other factors' that were presented in the results section.

## Appendix 2 Semi-structured Interview Participants

- I1: Swedish Energy Agency (Programme Manager) 43 years old M
- I2: Polestar (Sustainability Dept.) 42 years old F
- I3: Polestar (Customer Experience) 35 years old F
- I4: Retired Nurse 65 years old F
- I5: Student (Engineer) 24 years old M
- I6: Engineer 30 years old M
- I7: Academician, Ph.D. 28 years old F
- I8: Retired Teacher 67 years old M

## Appendix 3 Questionnaire Text

Key Factors on Electric Car Adoption in Sweden

Are you interested in electric cars and do not have one currently? Do you live in Sweden and want to help to contribute to a more sustainable future road transport by completing a 5-minute questionnaire?

This questionnaire forms part of a Master's Thesis project for Gothenburg University. For this, the questionnaire looks to understand the perception of the non-EV owners on electric vehicle adoption in Sweden. The car is one of the main forms of transport and is slowly beginning to transition from fossil fuels to renewable energy sources, e.g., electricity. This transition comes with challenges and therefore, understanding key factors that influence people's willingness to adopt electric cars is key to speed up to reach the climate goals. You can participate anonymously by clicking the link below and answer 14 questions.

https://www.surveymonkey.com/r/EVadoption

My name is Gökay Cinar and I study European Studies at the University of Gothenburg. If you have more questions, please reach out to;

gokaycinar23@gmail.com

Many thanks for your time.

Appendix 4 Questionnaire Results

Age, Gender Distribution

	18-24 (1)	25-34 (2)	35-44 (3)	45-54 (4)	55-64 (5)	65+ (6)	TOTAL	WEIGHTED AVERAGE
Male	18.33% 11	48.33% 29	18.33% 11	8.33% 5	5.00% ;	6 1.67% 3	60 L	2.38
Female	13.56% 8	54.24% 32	20.34% 12	6.78% 4	1.69%	6 3.39% 1 2	59 2 59	2.39
Prefer not to say	0.00% 0	100.00% 1	0.00% 0	0.00% 0	0.00%	6 0.00% D (	6 D 1	2.00
BASIC S	TATISTICS							
		MINIMUM	MAXIMU	M MEI	DIAN	MEAN	STANDARD	DEVIATION
Male		1.00	6.	00	2.00	2.38		1.13
Female		1.00	6.	00	2.00	2.39		1.07
Prefer no	t to say	2.00	2.	00	2.00	2.00		0.00

### **Profession of Participants**

Business and Marketing		25.51%	25
Engineer	-	9.18%	9
IT		6.12%	6
Other	-	9.18%	9
Retired		3.06%	3
Scientist and Teacher	-	9.18%	9
Seeking Job		3.06%	3
Service		2.04%	2
Student		34.69%	34

**Location Distribution** 

ANSWER CHOICES	RESPONSES	
Gothenburg (1)	38.66% 46	5
Stockholm (2)	13.45% 16	5
Malmö (3)	34.45% 41	L
Other (4)	10.92% 13	3
Other (please specify) (5)	2.52%	3
TOTAL	119	9

#### BASIC STATISTICS

MinimumMaximumMedianMeanStandard Deviation1.005.002.002.251.15	MedianMeanStandard Deviation2.002.251.15
--	--

### Car ownership

ANSWER CHOICES	RESPONSES	
None of the above	0.00%	0
Bensin	27.97%	33
Diesel	13.56%	16
Hybrid	4.24%	5
Plug-in Hybrid	2.54%	3
No	48.31%	57
Other	3.39%	4
TOTAL		118

### Cars' frequency of use

ANSWER CHOICES	RESPONSES	
1-2 times a week	16.95%	20
3-4 times a week	20.34%	24
Everyday	22.03%	26
Do not use a car	40.68%	48
TOTAL		118

### **Electric Vehicle Drive Experience**

ANSWER CHOICES	RESPONSES			
Yes	42.37%	50		
No	38.14%	45		
Not yet	19.49%	23		
Total Respondents: 118				

## Willingness to adopt an EV (1=unlikely, 5=very likely)

	1 (1)	2 (2)	3 (3)	4 (4)	5 (5)	TOTAL	WEIGHTED AVERAGE
Willingness to adopt an EV	7.02% 8	3.51% 4	22.81% 26	26.32% 30	40.35% 46	114	3.89
BASIC STATISTICS							
Minimum 1.00	1	Maximum 5.00	Med 4.00	lian I	Mean 3.89	Standard D 1.18	Deviation